



Table of Contents

I. Introduction4
II. Rewriting the Response to Racial Justice Protests5
The Trump Administration's Response
In the States
 Christopher Rufo's Revolution of Lies
What (and Where) Is Critical Race Theory?
III. How These Laws Affect Educators and Students9
Confusion and Unanswered Questions
The Chilling Effect
Denying Students a Full Education
IV. The End Game: A Far-Right Alternative to Public Schools16
V. Conclusion17
Records Obtained by American Oversight18
Endnotes 20



Executive Summary

In a far-reaching attempt to reshape and ultimately weaken public education, far-right politicians and activists have pushed to restrict classroom discussions of racism and gender, curtail the rights of LGBTO+ students and teachers, and ban books unilaterally deemed "inappropriate." Since 2021, 23 states have adopted educational gag orders limiting speech that doesn't fall within narrowly proscribed political views.1

American Oversight has obtained and analyzed thousands of pages of public records to shed light on these efforts to politicize, censor, and dismantle public education, from early elementary through higher education. This report details documents obtained from dozens of records requests that provide a behind-the-scenes look at how the implementation of "divisive concepts" measures threatens the foundational principles of public education and democracy, creates confusion for educators, and undermines the provision of a comprehensive education. This report covers the following:

- **Distortion of Educational Content:** Public records reveal ideologically motivated censorship of educational materials that privileges politics over truth. This includes removing references to race, gender, and sexual orientation; excising certain words or lessons; altering and whitewashing discussions of history; or banning certain books.
- Harm to Educators and Students: Targeting certain content through vaguely defined terms like "divisive concepts" has a chilling effect on educators, who are left confused, uncertain, and fearful of adverse employment consequences — and more inclined to excise content. related to race, gender, or sexuality. Consequently, students are denied the opportunity to learn about the full range of human experiences and ideas.
- **Undermining Public Education and Democracy:** Politically motivated censorship of educational content has been embraced by those seeking to weaken public education. and threatens to leave students with an inaccurate, incomplete, or biased understanding of U.S. history and current social issues, thus undermining the foundation of a healthy democracy: an informed electorate.

With Donald Trump back in the White House, the restrictive state-level policies outlined in this report are already moving to the federal government. The 2024 Republican Party platform called for cutting federal funding for schools alleged to be teaching critical race theory and "radical gender ideology." Similarly, as part of its agenda to overhaul the U.S. education system, Project 2025 — a set of policy proposals put together in advance of the 2024 presidential election by the Heritage Foundation and Trump allies, several of whom have since been appointed to key administration positions — calls for federal lawmakers to draft legislation banning the teaching of supposed gender ideology and critical race theory and for officials to adopt "divisive concepts" policies for K-12 systems.³ Less than ten days into his second administration, Trump began implementing this agenda. He signed executive orders directing federal agencies to end K-12 "indoctrination" and to enact a federal school choice program. 4 Underpinned by public reporting and government records from several states that unveil new details about the implementation of and responses to such policies, American Oversight's report offers a unique look at the harmful effects of politically motivated censorship measures on students, educators, and our democracy.

I. Introduction

Democratic ideals and multicultural society have been under attack on multiple fronts, including in public education. Across the country, students face restrictions on how they can express themselves both within and outside of the classroom. Teachers fear punishment if they dare to openly and honestly discuss America's fraught relationship with race. Books are being banned for mere mentions of gender or sexuality. And educational materials face revision, excision, and censorship to reflect a far-right worldview.

The current censorship movement took off toward the end of the first Trump administration, taking advantage of the backlash to inroads made by racial justice movements nationwide.⁵ In the wake of protests spurred by the 2020 police killing of George Floyd, an unarmed Black man, some schools responded by adding curriculum materials that examined racism in America's past and present, condemning racism and making public statements in support of Black students and their families, or taking other steps to examine and address structural inequities in education.⁶

Some parents and politicians recoiled at what they labeled "left-wing indoctrination," demanding that school districts remove any materials or instruction that smacked of what they believed to be "critical race theory." The Trump administration quickly translated those anxieties into policy. In September 2020, President Trump banned diversity trainings in the federal government and for federal contractors. The White House also established the President's Advisory 1776 Commission, which called for the rejection of "any curriculum that promotes one-sided partisan opinions, activist propaganda, or factional ideologies that demean America's heritage, dishonor our heroes, or deny our principles."

In states across the country, politicians have implemented this censorship campaign with great fervor. Prohibitions targeting instructional materials that explore identities or ideas outside of white, Christian, or heteronormative perspectives have coincided with bans on both classroom discussions of "divisive concepts" – a vague term used to cover a range of ideas — and instruction about sexual orientation and gender identity in specific grades.¹⁰ This political crusade has bewildered educators nationwide and left them in fear of politically motivated termination. Public records obtained by American Oversight and detailed throughout this report reveal how the array of censorship measures have created ambiguous legal lines, the effect of which is a pronounced chilling effect: Vague laws beget unclear guidance at the district level leaving educators to err on the side of being overly cautious as they decide which instructional materials may be out of compliance.

For example, faced with little to no guidance from state educational leaders, educators in Charlotte-Mecklenburg Schools in North Carolina removed a book from a secondgrade lesson plan for referring to a character as "they." 11, i The Florida Department of Education left math textbook publishers so unsure about how to comply with state law that some removed math stories that contained references to other cultures — for example, substituting a story about the global history of tea with another about an animal hospital. 12, ii In Arkansas, officials claimed a story might violate the state's divisive concepts executive order because it included a character who was a Vietnamese monk.ⁱⁱⁱ Public records also reveal how politically driven but ill-defined measures such as Virginia Gov. Glenn Youngkin's 2022 divisive concepts executive order result in the purging of terms like "racist" or "white supremacist" in history lessons. 13, iv Whether these measures were motivated by confusion and fear or political calculations, students are left less informed about the world around them, the challenges faced by marginalized communities, and how our government has sometimes failed to live up to the standards established in our founding documents.

Now, as Trump begins his second term, more emboldened than ever to carry out his anti-democratic agenda, he is poised to use the power of the federal government to renew a push for national policies that will narrow what students can learn, remove protections for LGBTO+ students, and further erode public education. His nominee for education secretary, Linda McMahon, is the board chair for the Trump-aligned America First Policy Institute, a think tank critical of both pro-LGBTQ+ policies and those that promote "radical ideologies over core subjects," and supportive of reinstating Trump's 1776 Commission. 14 Trump has also filled key administration positions with authors of the Heritage Foundation's 2023 "Mandate for Leadership: the Conservative Promise," commonly known as Project 2025. The project, which serves as a playbook for a hostile far-right takeover of the federal government, outlines major changes to federal education policy, censorship of learning materials, discrimination against LGBTO+ students. and radical cuts to - or even eradication of - the U.S. Department of Education.

II. Rewriting the Response to Racial Justice Protests

As noted in a 2021 report from PEN America, the "public reckoning" with racism that sparked widespread protests in the summer of 2020 "led many American institutions in various fields to adopt new curricula, training, and commitments to confront and dismantle racism." The effort did not go unnoticed by politicians and activists, 16 including then-President Trump, who blamed the protests on "left-wing indoctrination" in schools and called for districts to remove anti-racist educational materials. 17 The first Trump administration announced a ban on federal racial sensitivity trainings and created a commission tasked with promoting "patriotic education" in schools. 18, 19, 20 Conservative state leaders took up the mantle by banning education materials purportedly containing "divisive concepts" and passing "Parents' Bill of Rights" legislation targeting instruction on gender identity and sexual orientation.

The Trump Administration's Response

The May 2020 murder of George Floyd, an unarmed Black man, by a police officer in Minneapolis sparked a national conversation about systemic racism.²¹ Many school districts released public statements committing to center racial justice principles in their work, 22 created racial equity policies,²³ or questioned whether current curricula accurately taught such issues.²⁴ In August 2020, Virginia Gov. Ralph Northam announced a new African American history elective course for high school students, developed by the Virginia Department of Education, Virtual Virginia, WHRO Public Media, history instructors, and historians.²⁵ In 2021, the College Board retained a committee of history instructors to begin developing a national Advanced Placement (AP) African American Studies course.²⁶ A 2021 study conducted by researchers at Carnegie Mellon University found that after Floyd's murder, teachers used crowdfunding platforms to request more anti-racism instructional materials than they had after any similar event in the previous decade.²⁷ Several schools considered implementing curricular resources developed to teach "The 1619 Project," a series of essays published the previous year by the New York Times to commemorate the 400th anniversary of enslaved Africans arriving in Virginia.²⁸ The 1619 Project aimed to "reframe the country's history by placing the consequences of slavery and the contributions of black Americans at the very center of our national narrative."29

Far-right activists and politicians immediately disparaged the 1619 Project as a left-wing threat to unravel the nation.³⁰ In July 2020, Sen. Tom Cotton introduced a bill that would have banned federal funding for teaching the 1619 Project in K-12 schools,³¹ describing the project as

"a racially divisive, revisionist account of history" and calling slavery a "necessary evil upon which the union was built." The month prior, Cotton had suggested calling the protests the "1619 riots" after someone spray-painted 1619 on a toppled statue of George Washington. That September, Trump said on social media that his administration would investigate whether California schools were using 1619 Project curriculum materials, pledging to defund them if so. Trump also appeared to see the protests as an opportunity to promote charter schools and voucher programs, claiming during a June 2020 press conference about police reform that "school choice" was the "civil rights statement of the year."

President Trump enshrined far-right resentment against the anti-racism movement that September in Executive Order 13950. The order prohibited the use of trainings in federal workplaces that espoused "divisive concepts." which the order defined as including ideas that "an individual, by virtue of his race or sex, is inherently racist, sexist, or oppressive" or that "an individual should be discriminated against or receive adverse treatment solely or partly because of his or her race or sex."37 The order also required agency heads to ensure compliance with that prohibition, including through "performance-based adverse action" against supervisors or employees "with responsibility for promoting diversity and inclusion."38 Use of the term "divisive concepts" in policymaking quickly took off, along with accompanying hazy and confusing definitions that could be used to prohibit a wide range of ideas.³⁹ In the years since, at least 23 states have passed legislation limiting how instructors can discuss race, according to analysis by the Washington Post.40

Two months after issuing the order, the Trump administration established the President's Advisory 1776 Commission, which called for "restor[ing] patriotic education that teaches the truth about America."41 In his remarks establishing the commission, Trump blamed the 2020 protests on "decades of left-wing indoctrination in our schools" and warned: "Critical race theory, the 1619 Project, and the crusade against American history is toxic propaganda, ideological poison that, if not removed, will dissolve the civic bonds that tie us together. It will destroy our country."42 The commission also served as a tool for promoting charter schools, with then-Education Secretary Betsy DeVos emphasizing the Trump administration's support for school choice and arguing that instruction that "misconstrues" or "outright lies" about American history demonstrates why families need "more education options." 43

Christopher Rufo's Revolution of Lies

Far-right activist Christopher Rufo has played a leading role in fear-mongering about critical race theory in schools, helping inspire the wave of legislation that has perplexed and threatened teachers across the country.

Rufo, a senior fellow at the Manhattan Institute as well as at Hillsdale College, argues that CRT and diversity, equity, and inclusion programs encourage discrimination against white and Asian men.^{80,81}In September 2020, in an interview on Tucker Carlson Tonight that has been widely cited as the origin of President Trump's interest in CRT, Rufo alleged that CRT "pervaded every institution in the federal government," including in diversity trainings.⁸² Days after the segment aired, Russell Vought, then the head of the Office of Management and Budget, issued a memo instructing agencies to identify contracts or spending related to "any training on critical race theory." Later that month, Trump issued Executive Order 13950, formalizing the memo's ban on racial sensitivity trainings for federal employees and contractors. Trump later sent Rufo, who said he had provided research to the White House for the executive order, a pen from the signing with the note "Who says one person can't make a difference?!"

Rufo admits he has deliberately sought to broaden the definition of CRT, applying the term to anything he views as "unpopular": "The goal is to have the public read something crazy in the newspaper and immediately think 'critical race theory.' We have decodified the term and will recodify it to annex the entire range of cultural constructions that are unpopular with Americans." Confusion among educators about what CRT entails is hardly surprising when the panic is based on intentional misrepresentation.

If the terms he uses are deliberately ambiguous, his goal is not. Rufo has argued for a "counterrevolution" against antiracist principles and policies, modeled on Richard Nixon's 1968 campaign and presidency.⁸⁷ He has written that activists, intellectuals, and corporations are plotting to create an "anti-normative society" in which LGBTQ+ identities are "valorized."⁸⁸ The consequence of this effort to "re-engineer society," he has said, is a "huge explosion" of young people adopting gender and sexual identities that are "not representative" of society at large.⁸⁹ Such claims mirror the homophobic and anti-trans conspiracy theories that have inspired anti-LGBTQ+ legislation in conservative states.⁹⁰ As Florida Gov. DeSantis warned attendees at the signing of the state's "parental rights" bill, which Rufo attended:⁹¹ "They support sexualizing kids in kindergarten. ... They support enabling schools to, quote, 'transition,' students to a, quote, 'different gender,' without the knowledge of the parent, much less without the parent's consent."⁹²

In October 2023, Rufo announced a new fellowship to help other activists develop "a specific culture war' project." The program promised a \$1,000 honorarium for fellows, personal mentorship from Rufo, and connections with policymakers and the media. Earlier that year, Rufo had also hosted a private summit for activists to develop an "anti-woke policy agenda" for a future conservative presidential administration, calling for the U.S. Department of Education to put a price on critical race theory-style discrimination in admissions, hiring, and programming and the U.S. Department of Justice to use "civil rights law to create an anti-woke enforcement regime."

In January 2021, the commission produced "The 1776 Report," which the American Historical Society criticized as consisting of a "simplistic interpretation" of America's founding that "relies on falsehoods, inaccuracies, omissions, and misleading statements" while erasing enslaved people, women, and Indigenous communities. 44 The report instructed schools to teach a version of American history that was "accurate," "ennobling," and "inspiring," and called for states and school districts to "reject any curriculum that promotes one-sided partisan opinions, activist propaganda, or factional ideologies that demean America's heritage, dishonor our heroes, or deny our principles." "45"

Later that year, Hillsdale College, a small but influential Christian college, released its history and civics "1776 Curriculum" for K-12 schools, which reflected a similar minimization of the legacy of racism in U.S. history. 46

On the surface, Hillsdale is comparable to other small, midwestern liberal arts colleges. It enrolls fewer than 2.000 students on its Michigan campus in a town of about 8.000 that shares its name. But it boasts a more than \$900 million endowment and has become a leader in the far-right movement's reimagining of public education.⁴⁷ The school has become a resource for activists who want to overhaul public education and use "divisive concepts" measures to eliminate diversity, equity, and inclusion efforts. Through Hillsdale College's Barney Charter School Initiative, the college aims to spread "extreme" conservative thought" across the country by planting a network of so-called classical K-12 charter schools. which are characterized by their rejection of modern educational practices and culturally relevant curriculum in favor of Eurocentric texts and "Western canon." ⁴⁸ The "classical" charter movement has deep connections to the conservative think tanks and activists at the vanguard of the censorship movement.49

In the States

Censorship bills quickly swept through conservative state legislatures. 50 Most apply only to K-12 grade levels, but multiple states have also censored higher education.⁵¹ Critical race theory (CRT) has also been widely banned, with policymakers incorrectly affixing the "CRT" label to a range of curricula and instructional materials that reference race.⁵² A study conducted by researchers at the University of California, Los Angeles, found that in 2021 and 2022, federal, state, and local policymakers introduced 563 laws, policies, executive orders, and other measures aimed at restricting teaching about race and racism.53 Nearly half of these measures adopted language from Trump's "divisive concepts" executive order.54

Race and racism aren't the only concepts that have been targeted. Some states have passed "parental rights" legislation restricting discussion of sexual orientation or gender identity.55 Officials have used these vague laws to remove books that contain brief scenes of nudity or sexual themes. Some of these laws also contain provisions placing new restrictions on student and staff self-expression. Bills passed in Iowa. North Carolina. Indiana, and other states require schools to notify parents if their child requests to use another name or pronoun.⁵⁶

In January 2022, newly elected Virginia Gov. Glenn Youngkin issued Executive Order 1, which aimed to "end the use of inherently divisive concepts, including Critical Race Theory" in K-12 public schools. 57 Youngkin also instituted a tip line — quietly shut down the next year after receiving "little or no volume of responses" for parents to share alleged violations of the executive order.⁵⁸ Documents obtained by American Oversight revealed that the Virginia Department of Education received related help from right-wing circles, spending \$10.000 to hire a consulting firm run by former Trump administration official Kimberly Richey to "provide subject matter expertise, review and evaluation, and policy advice related to inherently divisive topics and other provisions." 59, v At the time of her hiring, Richey's resume outlined her work helping "[d]raft model legislation" to "[e]liminate critical race theory" in public schools. vi

In Florida, Gov. Ron DeSantis signed multiple bills restricting classroom discussion of racism, gender, and sexuality, beginning in March 2022 with HB 1467.60 The law mandates that educational media specialists review books for prohibited content and requires school districts to publish instructional materials online and to create a system for objections to materials deemed not "grade" level and age group" appropriate.61

That same month, DeSantis signed HB 1557, which prohibits instruction on sexual orientation or gender identity in certain grade levels. 62 This was followed in April 2022 by DeSantis signing HB 7, which forbids classrooms from being used to "indoctrinate" students.63 In 2023, the Florida State Board of Education voted to extend prohibitions on instruction on gender identity and sexual orientation to K-12 schools. 64to allow the use of public funds for private, parochial, or home schools.⁷⁶

What (and Where) Is Critical Race Theory?

Critical race theory, a term coined by civil rights scholar Kimberlé Williams Crenshaw, is an academic and legal framework pioneered by legal scholar Derrick Bell. 6 The theory originated in the 1970s and 1980s, as academics and activists sought to explain why even after the civil rights movement, Americans continued to live in a perversely unequal society.97 Scholars analyze governments, schools, the health-care system, police departments, and other institutions to show how policies and practices — even those that are facially raceneutral – can still perpetuate racial inequalities.98 According to the NAACP Legal Defense Fund, CRT proponents contend that racism "is more than the result of individual bias and prejudice" and instead is "a systemic phenomenon woven into the laws and institutions of this nation."99

The anti-CRT censorship campaign has confused some educators. The theory is not commonly taught in K-12 schools or even undergraduate courses, despite claims to the contrary. 100 In an example of how the supposed threat has been exaggerated for political purposes, one local school board member in Texas' Granbury Independent School District, Courtney Gore, has since walked back the platform she ran on in 2021, when she promised to purge allegedly inappropriate lessons related to race and sexuality she had heard about on far-right media. 101 After her election, she said she searched for the harmful content and found nothing. Gore has also warned that wealthy charter proponents are using panic about curriculum to destabilize trust in the public school system. 102

As references to race and gender were being excised, state leaders sought to expand charter and school choice initiatives and to infuse religion and farright viewpoints into curriculum. In 2019, the Florida legislature passed HB 807, which required the Florida Commissioner of Education to review the stateadopted civics course materials in consultation with several named education stakeholder groups, including Hillsdale College. 65 The commissioner also sought Hillsdale's review of the state's English and math standards in 2020.66 Documents obtained by American Oversight show that DeSantis' allies were laving the groundwork for a new civics curriculum similar to Hillsdale's. vii The state's Civics Seal of Excellence program for teachers has also been criticized for espousing Christian nationalism and downplaying the role of race in contemporary political and social life.⁶⁷ In 2024, DeSantis signed legislation streamlining the public-to-charter approval process.⁶⁸ Under DeSantis, Hillsdale has thrived in Florida, where its six member schools stand out as its largest state network.69

In Tennessee, Gov. Bill Lee, advised by Larry Arnn, Hillsdale College president and head of Trump's 1776 Commission, put Hillsdale College at the core of his anti-CRT crusade. 70 In June 2021, Lee signed into law Tennessee's divisive concepts legislation. which prohibited the inclusion or promotion of the same loosely defined concepts referred to in Trump's executive order and other state legislation.⁷¹ As DeSantis did in Florida. Lee also encouraged the expansion of "classical" charter schools like Hillsdale, which at the time of this report's publication has one member campus in Tennessee.72

Lee has publicly voiced a goal of increasing to 50 the state's number of charter schools using Hillsdale curriculum. 73 Education scholars have noted the alarming politicization of charter expansion: As Bruce Fuller, a professor of education and public policy at the University of California, Berkeley, told the New York Times: "I've never seen a governor attempting to use charters in such an overtly political way. ... You've had governors who've encouraged the growth of charters to provide more high-quality options for parents, but it's highly unusual to see a governor deploy the charter mechanism for admittedly political purposes."74

On her first day in office in January 2023, Arkansas Gov. Sarah Huckabee Sanders ordered the state Department of Education to find and remove curriculum materials alleged to promote CRT or "indoctrination." Months later, Sanders signed the LEARNS Act, which codified the order into state law and created a new voucher program to allow the use of public funds for private, parochial, or home schools.76

In North Carolina in August 2023, the General Assembly overrode Gov. Roy Cooper's veto and passed SB 49, which prohibits "instruction on gender identity, sexual activity, or sexuality" for K-4 grades.77 The law, commonly referred to as the "Parents' Bill of Rights," also requires educators to notify parents if their child chooses to go by a different name or pronoun at school.⁷⁸ Notably, the prohibited "instruction" is not defined in SB 49's language, leaving much up to the interpretation of school districts and educators. 79 That unclear language has created confusion and extra work for educators and administrators as they seek to comply with the legislation's vague requirements.

III. How These Laws Affect Educators and Students

Across the country states have passed laws restricting what students can be taught and what books they can access. While these measures may specify stiff penalties for teachers who violate the law, they are often vaque about what content or ideas are prohibited. Guidance issued by school districts on how to interpret these laws can be similarly ambiguous — if it exists at all.

This lack of clear guidance creates confusion for school administrators and teachers as they navigate legal gray areas. As school districts struggle to interpret new restrictions, teachers err on the side of caution to avoid potential consequences, leading to a profound chilling effect on what is taught, shared, or discussed in classrooms, especially with regard to books or lessons related to African American and LGBTO+ experiences.

Confusion and Unanswered Questions

The vague language used to describe "divisive concepts" in President Trump's 2020 executive order banning diversity trainings for federal employees" was also used in state efforts to restrict classroom speech, producing more confusion than clarity. For instance, during discussions of racial disparities or the history of slavery, what specifically should teachers avoid saying to guard against the idea that "any individual should feel discomfort, quilt, anguish, or any other form of psychological distress on account of his or her race or sex"?

What constitutes "promoting" or teaching an idea, as opposed to merely sharing it? "While these banned concepts may appear straightforward at first glance, their ambiguity comes to light when put into practice," wrote U.S. District Judge Paul J. Barbadoro in his May 2024 decision striking down New Hampshire's "divisive concepts" law.103

With the laws and executive orders failing to provide clear and applicable examples of banned topics, it's been up to school administrators, and ultimately teachers themselves, to contend with the vaqueness. Public criticisms as well as records obtained by American Oversight evince the frustration and confusion felt by administrators when faced with implementing new restrictions. Officials in North Carolina's Charlotte-Mecklenburg Schools, for example, anticipated early on the challenges in helping teachers comply with SB 49, the state's "Parents' Bill of Rights" that went into effect starting in August 2023. Well, our worst fear is coming true," wrote one official in an email to colleagues the day the state legislature overrode Gov. Roy Cooper's veto of the bill. The next month, another official. while responding to an email about an objection to a book, said they were "drowning with objection and SB 49 related things." When a high school principal asked if a teacher's bulletin board about banned books violated Charlotte-Mecklenburg Schools policy, a school superintendent said he was sorry "that you have not received quidance on this."x

Well, our worst fear is coming true. Hang tight! Executive Director, College & Career Pathways Charlotte-Mecklenburg Schools Yes, and I have been meaning to check this week but have been drowning with objection and SB 49 related things.

About a week after SB 49 took effect, the North Carolina Association of School Administrators and the North Carolina School Superintendents' Association held a webinar about the new law.xi The accompanying slideshow, obtained by American Oversight, mentioned "Concerns w/ vaqueness and potential impact."xii The slideshow also highlighted the lack of clarity around potential penalties for violating the law. "Employee penalties - vaque," one slide said. "[D]istricts must clearly communicate potential disciplinary action to all employees."xiii Similarly, presentation slides from an October 2023 meeting of the Rockingham County Schools Parent Advisory Council reveal worries about SB 49's redundancy, burdens, and vaqueness. "[T]here are many parts of the bill that aren't needed, and it creates extra work for school staff that may not have any real benefit or provide parents with more or different information."xiv

Education advocates have highlighted the heavy administrative burden created by SB 49's vaque language. According to Sam LaFrance, the manager of editorial projects for PEN America's Free Expression and Education team:

The administrative burdens of bills like SB 49 weigh heavily on many teachers, adding hours of work for those who are already stretched to the breaking point. Further, unclear enforcement mechanisms and vaque definitions spur self-censorship, transforming schools into more combative and stressful places to work. Where educational institutions become a battleground in the culture wars, teachers' jobs become harder, and students' learning suffers – the fruits of educational intimidation at work.104

Public records obtained from the Brevard County School District reveal similar concerns about Florida's spate of censorship bills, including HB 1069, which outlines the process for removing books from schools and limits classroom education on sexual orientation and gender identity. The Florida Association of District School Superintendents' 2023 Legislative Summary detailed problems with HB 1069 that ranged from resource scarcity to anticipated difficulty for teachers in determining what was allowed.

Implementation of the law was "incredibly time and resource-intensive" and took "educators away from teaching and learning," while the requirement that committees "convene, read, review, and assess each of the challenged books" tied up district resources.xv And because the law did "little to put quardrails in place" on what could be considered objectionable material. "the mere reference to an LGBTO person, or some sexual activity without any description of it, is challenged for including inappropriate sexual content."xvi The summary continued: "This vagueness in the law forces each district to address these issues on their own, opening each up to challenge and criticism no matter what they do," with the state's Department of Education accusing districts of "manufacturing controversy" for following the department's instructions to "err on the side of caution." xviii

Virginia Gov. Glenn Youngkin's 2022 "divisive concepts" executive order also proved difficult to interpret. In emails obtained by American Oversight, a Virginia Department of Education official expressed confusion and concern about the order. In one email from March 2022, the official emailed the chief diversity, opportunity and inclusion officer, pointing out that the modules of the state's African American history high school elective course might conflict with the language of the order. xviii, 105 "Because history is history, one of the overarching objectives states how slavery put one group of people over another as historical fact," the official wrote. "It contradicts with the language of Executive Order 1 - or maybe my interpretation is wrong. I have no idea how to reconcile that truth."xix

As administrators struggled to create policies and guidance that correctly interpreted new restrictions. educators encountered on-the-ground difficulty in applying the vague language to their classroom practices. During January 2023 hearings in the New Hampshire House of Representatives about the state's "divisive concepts" law, teacher David Scannell testified that he was uncertain about what essay topics he could approve. The statute seemed to bar teachers from advocating for measures like affirmative action, he testified, so if he approved a student's proposal to write a paper in support of affirmative action, could he be violating the law? "Under the 'divisive concepts' law, is a teacher grading such a paper required to fail the student if he determines there [isn't] any merit to American exceptionalism?" Scannell asked. 106

The problem is that the method they have employed is incredibly time and resource-intensive, takes educators away from teaching and learning, and has fed into this damaging narrative that public schools are places of indoctrination and sexual abuse. One of the major issues with both HB 1467 and HB 1557 last year is that they were very much open to interpretation.

I looked through the WHRO modules on Friday. Because history is history, one of the one group of people historical fact; it contradicts with the language of Executive Order maybe my interpretation is wrong. I have no idea how to reconcile that truth.

In a February 2022 Washington Post article, Jen Given, a New Hampshire high school history teacher, said she was unsure how to interpret terms in the law like "inherently," "superior," or "inferior," which were used in regard to the provision barring teaching that suggested one group was better than another. 107 Given said that she had asked school lawyers, the teacher's union, and the state for clarification but had not received helpful guidance. "It led us to be exceptionally cautious because we don't want to risk our livelihoods when we're not sure what the rules are," Given said. 108 In Judge Barbadoro's decision striking down the law, which he condemned as "fatally vaque," he wrote:

The banned concepts speak only obliquely about the speech that they target and, in doing so, fail to provide teachers with much-needed clarity as to how the Amendments apply to the very topics that they were meant to address. ... This lack of clarity sows confusion and leaves significant gaps that can only be filled in by those charged with enforcing the Amendments, thereby inviting arbitrary enforcement.1

In North Carolina, records obtained by American Oversight reveal that an elementary school teacher's assistant in Charlotte-Mecklenburg Schools who was editing a Hispanic Heritage Month presentation reached out to district officials after learning that artist Frida Kahlo was "in some way connected with LGBTO community," seeking in apparent good faith to comply with SB 49.xx They also asked the district for guidance on whether they could continue to read to second graders a picture book about a free neighborhood library after realizing the book — The Little Library used the gender-neutral pronoun "they" for a character. xxi

Educators aren't the only ones seeking — and not receiving — clarity on how to apply restrictions. In 2022, the Florida Department of Education released to American Oversight examples of math textbooks that it rejected for purportedly containing content related to CRT or social-emotional learning. The following year, the department reportedly rejected 82 out of 101 social studies textbooks for containing objectionable materials, leaving publishers to alter text if they wanted their books to be accepted by the state. 111

Records obtained by American Oversight shed light on the frustration textbook publishers experienced in seeking clarification from the department about requirements for math textbooks. 112, xxii In April 2022. representatives from the curriculum developer Accelerate Learning sent several emails to the Florida Department of Education seeking clarification about why its math textbook materials had been rejected. 113, xxiii In one email, an Accelerate representative asked for "more information" about why a fourth grade course wasn't recommended.xxiv

A few days later, another Accelerate representative asked, "Is there a way for us to get examples of what it looks like one reviewer found?" They added, "We worked really hard ... to follow the guidance we were given from the DOE every step of the way so it surprises me that someone found that we specifically mentioned culturally relevant teaching."xxv The representative followed up again after not receiving a reply, writing, "I know you all are swamped, but I also know these are time-sensitive things."xxvi

However, on the third time reading the book, I noticed that the Librarian seems to have a "they" pronoun. I did not even notice this when reading the book prior to the lesson and didn't pick up on it until the third reading. It was never a discussion point in the class and I received no questions about it. The main point of the book is about creating a Little Library. However, I would like clarification if it is alright to continue using this book for the remainder of the second-grade classes? Again, it was never directly addressed, and no questions were asked. I have been following the changes with SB49 and did not think this was included in anything relating this that type of material.

The Chilling Effect

Public records reveal that in the absence of clear guidance about why their books had been rejected by the Florida Department of Education, Accelerate Learning ultimately replaced several lessons in the math books to remove references to different cultures. To example, a passage about Tropical Storm Pakhar — a 2017 storm that impacted southern China, southeast Asia, and the Philippines — was part of a lesson about the place value of whole numbers. It was replaced with a passage about invasive species in the Chesapeake Bay. Another story that explained the global history of coffee and tea, used to introduce adding and subtracting decimal numbers, was replaced with a passage about working in an animal hospital.

As textbook publishers have erred "on the side of caution" by deciding to remove content that could be considered remotely controversial, school administrators and teachers have also removed curriculum materials and avoided classroom discussions out of fear of being penalized for violating the law. In its August 2022 report "America's Censored Classrooms," PEN America noted that laws prohibiting the promotion of certain ideas make it very easy for activists or school administrators to allege violations because "it is impossible to draw a clear line between teaching about a point of view and 'promoting' that point of view."115 While one student could think the teacher is merely communicating facts, another student could consider the lesson a "ringing endorsement." 116 "Faced with such ambiguity," the report noted, "the prudent teacher will be apt to self-censor," leading to "a pronounced chilling effect on teachers."117

A 2022 survey by the RAND Corporation found that approximately one-quarter of teachers said that "limitations placed on how teachers can address topics related to race or gender have influenced their choice of curriculum materials or instructional practices." In January 2023, the National Association for Music Education (NAfME) found that about two-thirds of surveyed educators in states with "divisive concepts" laws reported that the laws had negative effects

on themselves, their teaching, or their students. 119
According to NAfME, "Most affected participants stated that [the laws] restricted curriculum and the topics that could be discussed in the music classroom ... not because they were breaking the law but because they were afraid of repercussions from students, parents, or administrators misinterpreting the law." Some teachers reported that out of fear, they had removed almost all content dealing with race. The survey participants also noted that limitations on content had "an adverse impact on their ability to ensure all students are heard, seen, and feel they belong in the music classroom." 120

Researchers conducting focus groups with current and prospective educators in Tennessee during the 2021–2022 school year found that the state's divisive concepts law, which went into effect that school year, had "significant effects on classrooms, with teachers feeling the need to restrict the ways their teaching engaged with issues of race, racism, and other forms of oppression." Teachers were unsure how to interpret vague language in the legislation and were afraid of repercussions, and thus expected there to be less frequent instruction about race and racism.¹²¹

Outside of individual classrooms, restrictions also inhibit officials' approval of new policies, programs, and classes. In 2023, North Carolina's Johnston County School Board adopted a library policy that expanded SB 49's language to define "curriculum" as applying not just to classroom materials but also to library books. It also extended the ban on instruction on gender identity and sexuality to fifth grade, beyond the legally mandated K–4 ban, 122 stating that the ban would otherwise be too difficult to implement in an elementary school that went up to fifth grade. 123

Records obtained by American Oversight suggest that after Florida's 2022 passage of HB 1467, the law mandating review of books for prohibited content, school officials in Escambia County were reluctant to start a program that would have made it easier for students to check out books from their local library through their school library.xxx

That August, the school board's general counsel emailed the Florida School Board Attorneys Association Google group seeking clarification about a proposed memorandum of understanding for the new program. An attorney for another school board counseled against starting the program, stating it would be seen as an attempt to circumvent the law. Another attorney agreed: "I would be very reluctant to enter into such a program now ... and ultimately, if a student gets the book from school, you are faced with whether you otherwise made available an inappropriate book."xxxi

In Orange County, Florida, public records show school officials struggled to assess books using the vague legal definitions in HB 1467 and the state's "Don't Say Gay" law (HB 1557) and adopted restrictive policies to protect teachers from potential penalties for violations. In May 2022, a committee met and discussed content, school officials in Escambia County were reluctant to start a program that would have made it easier for students to check out books from their local library through their school library.xxx That August, the school board's general counsel emailed the Florida School Board Attorneys Association Google group seeking clarification about a proposed memorandum of understanding for the new program. An attorney for another school board counseled against starting the program, stating it would be seen as an attempt to circumvent the law. Another attorney agreed: "I would be very reluctant to enter into such a program now ... and ultimately, if a student gets the book from school, you are faced with whether you otherwise made available an inappropriate book."xxxi

In Orange County, Florida, public records show school officials struggled to assess books using the vague legal definitions in HB 1467 and the state's "Don't Say Gay" law (HB 1557) and adopted restrictive policies to protect teachers from potential penalties for violations. In May 2022, a committee met and discussed Gender Queer: A Memoir, an autobiographical comic geared to teenagers that contains information about sex and sexuality. The meeting minutes show that committee members debated terms in the laws such as "developmentally appropriate," "age appropriate," and "pornography," and ultimately voted to place the book in the media center's "professional" collection" intended for adults at the school.xxxii As one school official said during the meeting: "[I] don't want to be associated with book banning, but at the end of the day" maintaining students' access to the book could "have fallout effects for the people who are supplying this book to high school students."xxxiiii

Similar reasoning was used to explain the Arkansas Department of Education's 2023 decision to remove the pilot AP African American Studies course from its approved course list.

"Without clarity, we cannot approve a pilot that may unintentionally put a teacher at risk of violating Arkansas law," the department said regarding its decision. xxxiv, 124

While rare, some educators have indeed faced grave consequences for violations. A teacher in Duval County, Florida, was removed from classroom duties for displaying a Black Lives Matter flag and face masks criticizing Robert E. Lee. 125 In Cobb County, Georgia, teacher Katie Rinderle was fired for reading My Shadow Is Purple, a children's book about gender stereotypes and being true to oneself, to her fifth grade class. 126

In their attempts to comply with vaguely defined restrictions, teachers and administrators must spend considerable effort and time in determining for themselves the bounds of what is permitted. Fearing reprisal, wary educators hesitate to approve new programs or courses, and teachers adhere to the most expansive interpretations of what should be avoided, severely limiting what students can learn.

Denying Students a Full Education

The consequences of this chilling effect are clear: Discussions of important ideas and topics are suppressed. a diverse range of experiences and identities are sidelined, and students' understanding of history is whitewashed, sanitized, and unchallenged. The denial of enriching context that could inform students' understanding of themselves and the world around them is particularly apparent in book removals and in education agencies' curriculum reviews that excise information considered objectionable.

Some of the most earegious examples of this censorship come from Florida. For example, in 2023, the Florida Department of Education rejected the textbook The African American Experience — which contained information about George Floyd's murder and the 2017 "Unite the Right" white supremacist rally in Charlottesville — without providing an explanation for the rejection. 127 Public records obtained by American Oversight reveal that in 2024, in response to the anti-indoctrination HB 7, Orange County Public Schools administrators eliminated a sentence from a Black History Month proclamation that said, "[M]ore than 150 years after slavery was abolished in this nation, our society is still grappling with racial inequality and injustice as we strive toward a more perfect union."xxxv School administrators had included an almost identical sentence in the previous three years' proclamations. 128 Additionally, in a February 2024 email chain among Orange County school officials about HB 7, one official wrote that it was important that a facilitator, who had offered a group student mentorship program, "understands that nothing [taught] can talk about social justice, implicit bias, or the existence of racism."xxxvi

In January 2023, Gov. Ron DeSantis announced the state would reject the proposed AP African American Studies course for including "political" content such as "intersectionality and activism" and "Black queer studies."129 The College Board later removed from its suggested national curriculum several Black authors and made optional previously mandatory content elements such as discussion of the Black Lives Matter movement, denying the changes were in response to pressure from Florida.130

Records obtained by American Oversight contain internal comments from the Florida Department of Education's review of the rejected curriculum, which included objections to lessons about slavery and racial disparities that reviewers claimed were lacking in "opposing viewpoints."131, xxxvii Reviewers sought to minimize the horrors and long-term effects of slavery and systemic racism, including by calling for the inclusion of more than "one side of this issue." In response to a lesson stating that "Enslaved African Americans had no wages to pass down to descendants, no legal right to accumulate property, and individual exceptions depended on their enslavers' whims,"xxxix a reviewer wrote that the passage "supposes that no slaves or their descendants accumulated any wealth," which "is not true and may be promoting the critical race theory idea of reparations." The review took issue with the use of the term "enslavers" instead of "owners" and suggested that several references to the year 1619 "may be intended to promote 'the 1619 Project's' flawed view that 1619 is the real start date for American History."xl

A discussion of how Europeans benefited from the slave trade prompted a reviewer to warn that the topic "may lead to a viewpoint of a 'oppressor vs. oppressed' based solely on race or ethnicity."xli And a course unit on the origins of the transatlantic slave trade was criticized for not sufficiently addressing "the internal slave trade/ system within Africa" or mentioning the "role, if any, played by continental Africans."xliii

Public records reveal a similar discomfort with historical truths in the Virginia Department of Education's review of the state's African American history elective course, which had been developed by the previous administration and a committee of experts. The department prepared a list of "suggested revisions" to help the course comply with the order, which included removing the claim that eugenics is pseudoscience and that the "Lost Cause" myth about the Civil War continues to influence U.S. society. 132, xliii Another suggestion paraphrased Martin Luther King Jr.'s criticism of "white moderates" for being the "great stumbling block in [the] stride toward freedom" to only mention "moderates." xliv, 133

Removal of instructional materials and suppression of critical ideas has played out in other states. In Tennessee, fears over the state's censorship laws pushed event organizers to alter a school presentation by the authors of a Pulitzer Prize-winning book about George Floyd, 134 telling the authors not to go into depth about systemic racism.

Tamia 0.0 The Demonstra	The leaving chiesting is to #Common the common	L NI/A
Topic 2.8 The Domestic Slave Trade and Forced Migration	The learning objective is to "Compare the purposes, contexts, and audiences in a broadside from the 19 th century."	N/A
	There does not appear to be any violation of Florida Statutes or administrative code in this topic.	
Topic 2.8 The Domestic Slave Trade and Forced Migration	There does not appear to be any violation of Florida Statutes or administrative code in this topic.	
Topic 2.9 Labor and Economy	The learning objective is to "Describe the economic effects of enslaved people's commodification and labor, within and outside of African American communities."	May violate 1, 2, and 3.
	"Enslaved people were foundational to the American economy, and yet they and their descendants were alienated from the wealth that they both embodied and produced. Over centuries, slavery deeply entrenched wealth disparities along America's racial lines. Enslaved African Americans had no wages to pass down to descendants, no legal right to accumulate property, and individual exceptions depended on their enslavers' whims."	
	This quote supposes that no slaves or their descendants accumulated any wealth. This is not true and may be promoting the critical race theory idea of reparations.	
	This topic presents only one side of this issue and does not offer any opposing viewpoints or other perspectives on the subject.	

In Oklahoma, the State Department of Education launched an investigation into a school for teaching the book Dear Martin, a novel about a Black child killed after an encounter with a white off-duty police officer. 135 In Arkansas, Gov. Sarah Huckabee Sanders' vague anti-CRT executive order led the state Department of Education's review of the Arkansas Governor's School Curriculum to flag mentions of race, same-sex couples, non-native English speakers, and sustainability initiatives. A story about a Vietnamese monk was flagged for potential violation for "highlighting nationality and religion,"xlv and a 2012 National Education Association video on non-native English instruction was flagged for showing the "lived experience of English learners" while providing a "negative portrayal of unprepared educator[s]." 136, xlvi

Some school districts have gone so far as to interpret "divisive concepts" laws in broad ways that effectively prohibit materials with LGBTO+ characters. 137 For instance, officials reviewing Title IX instructional materials for compliance flagged some items for containing a "potential LGBTQ+ interpretation." ¹³⁸ Children's books such as Red: A Crayon's Story and Odd Velvet were flagged for the same reason, as was a Sesame Street video about bullying. 139 A presentation on Title IX for high school students was also flagged because a slide about flirting and harassment included an image of two women holding hands.xlix So was a slide on "Bystander Intervention" in another Title IX presentation, presumably because it included an image of one woman hugging another.xlvii

Bans on sexual orientation or gender identity content have been used to target symbols such as the pride flag, display of which one North Carolina education advocate had advised was a legal "gray area." In 2023, the Arkansas Department of Education circulated a list of incidents that violated the state's executive order, including displaying the pride flag because it was a "politicized symbol" that "gives students the impression that only one outlook on gender and sexuality is acceptable in schools."140

As the Campaign for Southern Equality noted in a Title IX complaint arguing that the implementation of North Carolina's SB 49 and HB 574 — which bans transgender girls from participating in girls' sports¹⁴¹ – results in anti-LGBTO+ discrimination:

[The] mandates to enforce SB49 and HB574 have already created a hostile educational environment on the basis of sex in North Carolina public schools. Their guidance, or lack thereof, on SB49 has already forced the involuntary outing of transgender students as well as walling LGBTO students off from supportive materials, services, and educators. And their approach to HB574 further marginalizes transgender students by barring transgender girls from competing for their schools and jeopardizing the ability of transgender boys to do so. 142

The Campaign for Southern Equality is not alone in this assessment of the discriminatory nature of SB 49 and similar laws in other states. In May 2024, the National Women's Law Center filed Title IX complaints with the U.S. Department of Education's Office of Civil Rights alleging that school districts in Cobb County, Georgia, and Collier County, Florida, engaged in illegal discrimination on the basis of sex, race, and nationality when they censored books and curriculum regarding LGBTO+ people and people of color. 43 According to the North Carolina-based Education Justice Alliance:

[The] mandates to enforce SB49 and HB574 have already created a hostile educational environment on the basis of sex in North Carolina public schools. Their quidance, or lack thereof, on SB49 has already forced the involuntary outing of transgender students as well as walling LGBTO students off from supportive materials. services, and educators. And their approach to HB574 further marginalizes transgender students by barring transgender girls from competing for their schools and jeopardizing the ability of transgender boys to do so.144

The examples outlined in this report — of confusion and fear, stifling caution and overt censorship — paint a picture of a nationwide pattern: vaquely worded laws and executive orders drafted by politicians, not education experts or historians, lead to widespread uncertainty about legal definitions, ultimately producing a chilling effect that directly impacts what students can learn and how they express themselves.

IV. The End Game: A Far-Right Alternative to Public Schools

The far right's attack on public education did not start and will not end – with "divisive concepts" measures and the chaos and confusion they have wrought. In fact, the movement has tied the spread of state-level bans to its longstanding campaign to defund public education in favor of private school vouchers and publicly funded charter schools, including those in the Hillsdale network. In September 2021, senior officials at the Heritage Foundation and the Educational Freedom Institute published a blog post arguing that the school choice movement needed to embrace a "values-based appeal" as part of a new strategy to increase the success of their national campaign. 145 The authors claimed that families, elected leaders, and other stakeholders could be persuaded to support private school vouchers and publicly funded charter schools if they were told that such programs would enable them to "reject curriculum they do not like, such as Critical Race Theory and the 1619 Project."¹⁴⁶ According to its proponents, this strategy is succeeding. In February 2023, Heritage Foundation officials concluded that a "key explanation for the current success of the school-choice movement is a switch in political strategy among some of its influential leaders." ¹⁴⁵ According to Heritage Foundation president Kevin Roberts, "We don't merely seek an exit from the system; we are coming for the curriculums and classrooms of the remaining public schools, too."148

Officials across the country responsible for overseeing public education have bought into this narrative that schools have failed families and students through indoctrination. One notable example is Oklahoma State Superintendent of Public Instruction Ryan Walters, a far-right firebrand who has leveraged opposition to supposed "divisive concepts" to argue for shifting funds away from public education. While attending the 2024 Republican National Convention, Walters shared in an interview that eliminating "woke indoctrination" from schools and establishing universal school choice were top priorities.149

If far-right actors like Walters and the Heritage Foundation succeed, problematic alternatives to public education already developing at the state level could become national policy. Arizona's Empowerment Scholarship Account, a universal education savings account program, provides a case in point. The program allows parents to access public funding to spend on private schools, including religious academies that require adherence to particular faiths. 150 According to a Brookings Institution study, the program has disproportionately benefited wealthy families with high levels of educational attainment.151

Project 2025, the policy agenda created by the Heritage Foundation and more than 100 other right-wing organizations for a second Trump administration, draws heavily on Arizona's model¹⁵² and could nationalize the program's disparate impacts. Lindsey Burke, the director of the Heritage Foundation's Center for Education Policy and author of Project 2025's education chapter. recommends replacing the Department of Education's Title I program, which supports schools that serve a disproportionate number of low-income students, with direct block grants for states to shore up charter funding and vouchers. 153

As anti-public education advocates and for-profit interests pave the way for billions of dollars in public funding to be diverted from public education budgets to private religious schools and ideologically aligned charter networks, 154 private business interests like educational tech companies, curriculum consultants, and other vendors will likely profit immensely from newly available money. Potential profiteers include U.S. Rep. Byron Donalds of Florida and his wife, Erika Donalds, the founder of OptimaEd, a self-described "education experience company" that provides "virtuebased classical education" through charter and other non-public school options. 155 Optima Academy Online, Erika Donalds' K-12 virtual-reality online school, shares the focus on "classical education" that Hillsdale popularized in far-right education circles. Prior to founding OptimaEd, Donalds served on the board of Mason Classical Academy, a formerly Hillsdale-affiliated school in Naples, Florida. 156 Her charter-planting nonprofit Optima Foundation is linked to Hillsdale College. 157 American Oversight obtained documents showing that Donalds participated in a 2022 Heritage Foundation event unveiling its Education Freedom Report Card, 158 during which she sat on a panel entitled "Putting Education Choice Into Action." The discussion came immediately after a panel featuring Lindsey Burke and preceded remarks by Kevin Roberts and Gov. Ron DeSantis. In 2023, Donalds joined the Heritage Foundation as a visiting fellow on education freedom. 159

As activists claim public schools are failing families. they are doing everything in their power to bring that outcome about. The end game is not rejuvenating the U.S.'s public education system, but gutting it and replacing it with a system that serves ultra-conservative political, financial, and cultural interests.

V. Conclusion

Lurking behind these "divisive concepts" laws, book purges, and curriculum reviews is a nefarious idea: Public schools are dangerous places that harm children, in which teachers eagerly indoctrinate the young with leftist political ideas.

Through this distorted prism, a book about a child embracing their unique identity is not about empathy and acceptance; instead, as one Georgia parent said in an email obtained by American Oversight, it's a "garbage agenda" being "pushed" on students. liii New curriculum — created or adopted amid the once-in-ageneration racial justice protests and a global pandemic that disproportionately impacted people of color, and designed to explain how racial inequality interacts with current policies and systems — is not relevant educational information, but rather a plot to "inundate every classroom with material that is specifically African American-centric"liv and "destroy" the nation. 160 William Shakespeare's Romeo and Juliet and Antony and Cleopatra are not cherished classics ripe for everevolving interpretation, but rather are inappropriate plays that should be culled from curriculum. V Even the mention in a math textbook of a tropical storm on the other side of the globe could be censored. lvi

These inaccurate and harmful ideas have led to realworld policy. The first Trump administration's promotion of its "1776 Report" trumpeted the greatness of America and denied any hint of an unjust past, leading state lawmakers who were keen to beef up their ideological credentials to pass laws banning the teaching of "divisive concepts," employing vague language that could encompass nearly anything contrary to a narrow, right-wing worldview. Now, a second Trump administration is already taking steps to elevate this agenda to national policy. 161

This report uses documents obtained from dozens of public records requests to demonstrate how the deluge of restrictions creates confusion for state education institutions, administrators, and teachers. The records show educators' uncertainty and desire for clarity. Lurking behind each inquiry is the implicit fear: Will I get fired if I teach my students this lesson? These "divisive concepts" laws have been so effective at scaring teachers that many teachers cautiously removed any potentially offending material, avoiding lessons that discuss people who are not heterosexual, white, Christian, or American. This censorship further entrenches systemic inequalities and risks leaving students of different backgrounds feeling invisible or unaccepted. Collapsing the range of what students are exposed to denies them the full education that every child in America has the right to, and does little to prepare them to navigate and meaningfully participate in a multicultural world with diverse viewpoints.

The harmful effects of this attack on public education do not end with censorship. Many of the activists and officials pushing "divisive concepts" measures are linked to efforts to divert public education money to private interests and move students to schools run by private companies, including those centered on far-right or religious teachings.

Our democracy is only as strong as the systems that hold it together and help it function. Public schools represent a vital democratic institution thanks to their role in ensuring an informed and engaged electorate, and the health of our society depends on the ability of our public schools to represent and serve the full range of our nation and its people.

Records Obtained by American Oversight

- ¹ NC-MECKLENBURG-23-1188-B: "<u>Charlotte-Mecklenburg</u> <u>Schools, N.C., Records Related to Content Determined</u> <u>Prohibited by SB 49</u>," 210, received by American Oversight February 14, 2024.
- FL-DOE-22-0431-A: "Florida Education Department Records Released in Response to Request for Communications with Math Textbook Publishers," 3429-3439, received by American Oversight February 9, 2022.
- AR-DOE-23-0823-A: "Arkansas Department of Education Records Regarding the Rejection of AP African American Studies," 4–34, received by American Oversight October 25, 2023.
- "VA-DOE-24-0011-A: "<u>Virginia Department of Education</u>
 Records from Review of African American History Elective
 Course," 2-9, received by American Oversight March 18, 2024.
- VA-DOE-22-0316-B: "Virginia Department of Education Records Regarding Email Communications About Tip Line," 1179, received by American Oversight May 12, 2022.
- vi VA-DOE-22-0316-B: "Virginia Department of Education Records Regarding Email Communications About Tip Line," 1154.
- vii FL-GOV-23-0182-A: "Florida Governor's Office Communications" 1015, 1029, 1037, received by American Oversight April 5, 2024.
- viii NC-MECKLENBURG-23-1247-A: "<u>Charlotte-Mecklenburg</u> <u>Schools, N.C., Communications Regarding Senate Bill 49</u>," 315, received by American Oversight February 14, 2024.
- ix NC-MECKLENBURG-23-1247-A: "Charlotte-Mecklenburg Schools, N.C., Communications Regarding Senate Bill 49," 807.
- * NC-MECKLENBURG-23-1247-A: "Charlotte-Mecklenburg Schools, N.C., Communications Regarding Senate Bill 49," 62-79.
- xi NC-ROCKINGHAM-23-1245-A: "Rockingham County Schools, N.C., Communications Regarding the Implementation of Senate Bill 49," 290, received by American Oversight January 10, 2024.
- xii NC-ROCKINGHAM-23-1245-A: "Rockingham County Schools, N.C., Communications Regarding the Implementation of Senate Bill 49," 3.
- xiii NC-ROCKINGHAM-23-1245-A: "Rockingham County Schools, N.C., Communications Regarding the Implementation of Senate Bill 49," 5.

- xiv NC-ROCKINGHAM-23-1245-A: "Rockingham County Schools, N.C., Communications Regarding the Implementation of Senate Bill 49," 358.
- ** FL-BREVARD-23-1239-A: "Brevard Public Schools, Fla., Communications Regarding the Implementation of the Stop W.O.K.E. Act," 178, received by American Oversight June 10, 2024.
- xvi FL-BREVARD-23-1239-A: "Brevard Public Schools, Fla., Communications Regarding the Implementation of the Stop W.O.K.E. Act," 178.
- xvii FL-BREVARD-23-1239-A: "Brevard Public Schools, Fla., Communications Regarding the Implementation of the Stop W.O.K.E. Act," 178.
- xviii VA-DOE-22-0316-A: "<u>Virginia Department of Education Records Regarding Email Communications About Tip Line</u>," 930, received by American Oversight May 5, 2022.
- xix VA-DOE-22-0316-A: "Virginia Department of Education Records Regarding Email Communications About Tip Line," 993.
- xx NC-MECKLENBURG-23-1188-B: "Charlotte-Mecklenburg Schools, N.C., Records Related to Content Determined Prohibited by SB 49," 301.
- xxi NC-MECKLENBURG-23-1188-B: "Charlotte-Mecklenburg Schools, N.C., Records Related to Content Determined Prohibited by SB 49," 210.
- xxii FL-DOE-22-0431-A: "Florida Education Department Records Released in Response to Request for Communications with Math Textbook Publishers," 1010-1012.
- xxiii FL-DOE-22-0431-A: "Florida Education Department Records Released in Response to Request for Communications with Math Textbook Publishers," 1010-1012.
- xxiv FL-DOE-22-0431-A: "Florida Education Department Records Released in Response to Request for Communications with Math Textbook Publishers," 1012.
- xxv FL-DOE-22-0431-A: "Florida Education Department Records Released in Response to Request for Communications with Math Textbook Publishers," 1011.
- xxvi FL-DOE-22-0431-A: "Florida Education Department Records Released in Response to Request for Communications with Math Textbook Publishers," 1011.

- xxvii FL-DOE-22-0431-A: "Florida Education Department Records Released in Response to Request for Communications with Math Textbook Publishers," 3440.
- Records Released in Response to Request for Communications with Math Textbook Publishers," 3436.
- xxix FL-DOE-22-0431-A: "Florida Education Department Records Released in Response to Request for Communications with Math Textbook Publishers," 3429.
- xxx FL-SARASOTA-23-0313-A: "Sarasota County, Fla., Public Schools for Documents Concerning Book Bans," 1200, received by American Oversight July 31, 2023.
- xxxi FL-SARASOTA-23-0313-A: "Sarasota County, Fla., Public Schools for Documents Concerning Book Bans," 1200.
- EL-ORANGE-23-0318-A: "Orange County, Fla., Public Schools Documents Concerning Book Bans," 36-40, received by American Oversight May 9, 2023.
- xxxiii FL-ORANGE-23-0318-A: "Orange County, Fla., Public Schools Documents Concerning Book Bans," 38.
- xxxiv AR-DOE-23-1258, 23-1259-A: "Arkansas Department of Education Records Regarding the Rejection of AP African American Studies," 1-2, received by American Oversight December 29, 2023.
- **** FL-ORANGE-24-0546-A: "Orange County Public Schools, Fla., Communications Regarding the Implementation of the Stop W.O.K.E. Act," 3391, received by American Oversight July 3, 2024.
- xxxvi FL-ORANGE-24-0546-A: "Orange County Public Schools, Fla., Communications Regarding the Implementation of the Stop W.O.K.E. Act," 3263.
- xxxvii FL-DOE-23-0158-A: "Florida Department of Education Records Regarding AP African American Studies," 15, received by American Oversight June 13, 2023.
- xxxviii FL-DOE-23-0158-A: "Florida Department of Education Records Regarding AP African American Studies," 15-22.
- xxxix FL-DOE-23-0158-A: "Florida Department of Education Records Regarding AP African American Studies," 23.
- xl FL-DOE-23-0158-A: "Florida Department of Education Records Regarding AP African American Studies," 32.
- xii FL-DOE-23-0158-A: "Florida Department of Education Records Regarding AP African American Studies," 19.
- xlii FL-DOE-23-0158-A: "Florida Department of Education Records Regarding AP African American Studies," 15.

- xiiii VA-DOE-24-0011-A: "Virginia Department of Education Records from Review of African American History Elective Course," 1.
- xliv VA-DOE-24-0011-A: "Virginia Department of Education Records from Review of African American History Elective Course," 11.
- xlv AR-DOE-23-0823-A: "Arkansas Department of Education Records Regarding the Rejection of AP African American Studies," 4–34, received by American Oversight October 25, 2023.
- xivi AR-DOE-23-0823-A: "Arkansas Department of Education Records Regarding the Rejection of AP African American Studies," 4–34.
- Schools, N.C., Records Related to Content Determined
 Prohibited by SB 49," 3, received by American Oversight January
 30, 2024.
- xiviii NC-MECKLENBURG-23-1188-A: "Charlotte-Mecklenburg Schools, N.C., Records Related to Content Determined Prohibited by SB 49," 3.
- xlix NC-MECKLENBURG-23-1188-A: "Charlotte-Mecklenburg Schools, N.C., Records Related to Content Determined Prohibited by SB 49," 3.
- ¹ NC-MECKLENBURG-23-1188-A: "<u>Charlotte-Mecklenburg</u> <u>Schools, N.C., Records Related to Content Determined</u> <u>Prohibited by SB 49</u>," 3.
- ^{II} NC-ROCKINGHAM-23-1245-A: "Rockingham County Schools, N.C., Communications Regarding the Implementation of Senate Bill 49," 290.
- FL-DOE-23-0882-A: "Florida Department of Education Communications With and About Erika Donalds," 288-290, received by American Oversight March 7, 2024.
- Ga-COBB-23-1175-A: "Cobb County School District, Ga., Records of Reviews Identifying Curriculum Materials Containing 'Divisive Concepts," 97, received by American Oversight January 22, 2024.
- ^{liv} VA-DOE-22-0316-A: "<u>Virginia Department of Education</u> <u>Records Regarding Email Communications About Tip Line</u>," 10.
- V GA-COBB-23-1175-A: "Cobb County School District, Ga., Records of Reviews Identifying Curriculum Materials Containing 'Divisive Concepts," 1595.
- Released in Response to Request for Communications with Math Textbook Publishers," 3440, received by American Oversight February 9, 2023.

Endnotes

- ¹Jeffrey Adam Sachs and Jeremy C. Young, "America's Censored Classrooms 2024," PEN America, October 8, 2024, https://pen.org/report/americas-censored-classrooms-2024/.
- ² "The 2024 Republican Platform," Republican National Committee, 2024, https://prod-static.gop.com/media/RNC2024-Platform.pdf?_gl=1*18ov8ne*_gcl_au*NjMwODYwMzI2LjE3MzgwOTY2NTk.&_ga=2.25192894.2002610613.1738096660-2078657243.1738096660.
- ³ Lindsey M. Burke, "Department of Education," in Mandate for Leadership: The Conservative Promise, 2023, https://static.project2025.org/2025_MandateForLeadership_CHAPTER-11.pdf.
- ⁴ Juan Perez Jr. and Mackenzie Wilkes, "Trump issues orders on K-12 'indoctrination', school choice and campus protests," Politico, January 29, 2025, https://www.politico.com/news/2025/01/29/trump-k12-indoctrination-school-choice-campus-protests-education-00201235.
- ⁵ Leah Watson, "What the Fight Against Classroom Censorship Is Really About," American Civil Liberties Union, September 7, 2023, https://www.aclu.org/news/free-speech/what-the-fight-against-classroom-censorship-is-really-about; Jonathan Friedman, James Tager, and Andy Gottlieb, "Educational Gag Orders: Legislative Restrictions on the Freedom to Read, Learn, and Teach," PEN America, November 8, 2021, https://pen.org/report/educational-gag-orders/.
- ⁶ Riham Feshir, "As schools promise racial equity, the path forward is often met with resistance," Minnesota Public Radio, October 7, 2020, https://www.mprnews.org/story/2020/10/06/as-schools-promise-racial-equity-the-path-forward-is-often-met-with-resistance; Linday McKenzie, "Words Matter for College Presidents, but So Will Actions," Inside Higher Ed, June 7, 2020, https://www.insidehighered.com/news/2020/06/08/searching-meaningful-response-college-leaders-killing-george-floyd; Stephen Sawchuk, "4 Ways George Floyd's Murder Has Changed How We Talk About Race and Education," EducationWeek, April 21, 2021, https://www.edweek.org/leadership/4-ways-george-floyds-murder-has-changed-how-we-talk-about-race-and-education/2021/04.
- ⁷ Niedzwiadek, "Trump Goes after Black Lives Matter, 'Toxic Propaganda' in Schools."

- ⁸ Laura Meckler and Josh Dawsey, "Republicans, Spurred by an Unlikely Figure, See Political Promise in Targeting Critical Race Theory," Washington Post, June 21, 2021, https://www.washingtonpost.com/education/2021/06/19/critical-race-theory-rufo-republicans/; "Combating Race and Sex Stereotyping," Executive Office of the President, September 28, 2020, https://www.federalregister.gov/documents/2020/09/28/2020-21534/combating-race-and-sex-stereotyping.
- ⁹ "Executive Order on Establishing the President's Advisory 1776 Commission," The White House, November 2, 2020, https://web.archive.org/web/20201102195342/https://www.whitehouse.gov/presidential-actions/executive-orderestablishing-presidents-advisory-1776-commission/; The President's Advisory 1776 Commission, "The 1776 Report," The White House, January 18, 2021, https://trumpwhitehouse.archives.gov/wp-content/uploads/2021/01/The-Presidents-Advisory-1776-Commission-Final-Report.pdf.
- ¹⁰ "PEN America Index of Educational Gag Orders," PEN America, accessed January 28, 2025, https://airtable.com/appg59iDuPhlLPPFp/shrtwubfBUo2tuHyO/tbl49yod7l01o0TCk/viw6VOxb6SUYd5nXM?blocks=hide; Sachs and Young, "America's Censored Classrooms 2024."
- ¹¹ "In the Documents: North Carolina Educators Scramble to Comply with State's 'Don't Say Gay' Law," American Oversight, April 11, 2024, https://www.americanoversight.org/in-the-documents-north-carolina-educators-scramble-to-comply-with-states-dont-say-gay-law.
- ¹² "Florida Dept. of Education Emails Reveal Confusion for Textbook Companies, New Examples of Lesson Changes," American Oversight, July 26, 2023, https://www.americanoversight.org/florida-dept-of-education-emails-reveal-confusion-for-textbook-companies-new-examples-of-lesson-changes.
- ¹³ "Inside the Virginia Education Department's Review of African American History Course," American Oversight, June 26, 2024, https://www.americanoversight.org/inside-the-virginia-education-departments-review-of-african-american-history-course.
- ¹⁴ "America First vs. America Last Report Card: U.S. History," America First Policy Institute, October 11, 2024, https://americafirstpolicy.com/issues/america-first-vs-america-last-report-card-u.s-history; Zachary Schermele, "Where does Linda McMahon, Trump's education secretary nominee, stand on key issues?" USA Today, December 5, 2024, https://www.usatoday.com/story/news/education/2024/12/02/linda-mcmahon-trump-education/76448914007/.

- ¹⁵ Friedman, Tager, and Gottlieb, "Educational Gag Orders: Legislative Restrictions on the Freedom to Read, Learn, and Teach."
- ¹⁶ Tucker Carlson, "Tucker Carlson: Cultural Revolution has come to America brainwashing underway" Fox News, June 6, 2020, https://www.foxnews.com/opinion/cults-allies-george-floyd-tucker-carlson.
- ¹⁷ Niedzwiadek, "Trump Goes after Black Lives Matter, 'Toxic Propaganda' in Schools."
- ¹⁸ Sarah Mervosh and Dana Goldstein, "Chris Rufo calls on Trump to end critical race theory 'cult indoctrination' in federal government," Fox News, September 1, 2020, https://www.foxnews.com/politics/chris-rufo-race-theory-cult-federal-government.
- ¹⁹ Matthew S. Schwartz, "Trump Tells Agencies to End Trainings on 'White Privilege' and 'Critical Race Theory," NPR, September 5, 2020, https://www.npr.org/2020/09/05/910053496/trump-tells-agencies-to-end-trainings-on-white-privilege-and-critical-race-theor.
- ²⁰ Nicole Gaudiano, "Trump creates 1776 Commission to promote 'patriotic education," Politico, November 2, 2020, https://www.politico.com/news/2020/11/02/trump-1776-commission-education-433885.
- ²¹ "Who Was George Floyd and What Happened to Derek Chauvin?" BBC, May 24, 2021. https://www.bbc.com/news/world-us-canada-56270334.
- ²² "Statement by the Cincinnati Public Schools Board of Education on the Killing of George Floyd," Cincinnati Public Schools Board of Education, June 2, 2020, https://www.cgcs.org/cms/lib/DC00001581/Centricity/Domain/313/Cincinnati%20Public%20Schools%20Board%20of%20Education%20on%20the%20Killing%20of%20George%20Eloyd.pdf; "Statements from Council Districts on the Killing of George Floyd / Statements from Council Districts," Council for the Great City Schools, https://www.cgcs.org/domain/321.
- ²³ "IPS Approves Historic Racial Equity Policy," Indianapolis Public Schools, June 25, 2020, https://www.cgcs.org/cms/lib/DC00001581/Centricity/Domain/321/IPS%20Racial%20Equity.pdf.
- ²⁴ "Statement from Superintendent Austin Beutner," Los Angeles Unified School District, June 1, 2020, https://www.cgcs.org/cms/lib/DC00001581/Centricity/Domain/313/NS_Statement%20from%20Los%20Angeles%20Unified%20Superintendent%20Austin%20Beutner_060120.pdf.

- ²⁵ "Governor Northam Announces Launch of New African American History Course," Office of the Governor, August 27, 2020, https://www.governor.virginia.gov/newsroom/all-releases/2020/august/headline-860129-en.html.
- ²⁶ Ileana Najarro, "How AP African American Studies Came Under Attack: A Timeline," Education Week, February 10, 2023, https://www.edweek.org/teaching-learning/how-ap-african-american-studies-came-under-attack-a-timeline/2023/02.
- ²⁷ Saharsh Agarwal and Ananya Sen, "Anti-Racist Curriculum and Digital Platforms: Evidence from Black Lives Matter," in Forthcoming, Management Science, April 22, 2021, https://papers.ssrn.com/sol3/papers.cfm?abstract_id=3832015.
- ²⁸ Jeff Barrus, "Pulitzer Center Named Education Partner for The New York Times Magazine's 'The 1619 Project," Pulitzer Center, August 14, 2019, https://pulitzer-center-named-education-partner-new-york-times-magazines-1619-project; Naomi Schaefer Riley, "'The 1619 Project' Enters American Classrooms," Education Next, May 28, 2020, https://www.educationnext.org/1619-project-enters-american-classrooms-adding-new-sizzle-slavery-significant-cost/.
- ²⁹ "The 1619 Project," New York Times Magazine, August 14, 2019, https://www.nytimes.com/interactive/2019/08/14/magazine/1619-america-slavery.html.
- ³⁰ Ben Shapiro, "How to Destroy America in Three Easy Steps," Harper Collins, July 21, 2020, https://www.harpercollins.com/products/how-to-destroy-america-in-three-easy-steps-ben-shapiro?variant=32952435146786; "Tucker: The Cultural Revolution Has Come to America," YouTube, uploaded by Fox News, June 5, 2020, https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=UcBeFM 267k.
- ³¹ "Saving American History Act of 2020," S.4292, 116th Cong. (2020), https://www.congress.gov/bill/116th-congress/senate-bill/4292.
- ³² "Cotton Bill to Defund 1619 Project Curriculum," The Office of Tom Cotton, July 23, 2020, https://www.cotton.senate.gov/news/press-releases/cotton-bill-to-defund-1619-project-curriculum.
- ³³ Devan Cole, "Tom Cotton Describes Slavery as a 'Necessary Evil' in Bid to Keep Schools from Teaching 1619 Project," CNN, July 27, 2020, https://www.cnn.com/2020/07/27/politics/tom-cotton-slavery-necessary-evil-1619-project/index.html.
- ³⁴ "Cory Wilson Judicial Nomination," C-SPAN, June 22, 2020, https://www.c-span.org/video/?473269-1/senate-session; Bryant Clerkley, "Statue of George Washington Toppled and Spray Painted in Hollywood Neighborhood," KGW8, June 19, 2020, https://www.kgw.com/article/news/local/statue-of-george-washington-toppled-and-spray-pained-in-hollywood-neighborhood/283-6f3d5c28-74c6-4307-88d7-493c5dfcd59b.

- ³⁵ Kevin Liptak, "Trump Says Department of Education Will Investigate Use of 1619 Project in Schools," CNN, September 6, 2020, https://www.cnn.com/2020/09/06/politics/trump-education-department-1619-project/index.html.
- ³⁶ Wesley Whistle, "Trump: School Choice Is The Civil Rights Statement Of The Year," Forbes, June 16, 2020, https://www.forbes.com/sites/wesleywhistle/2020/06/16/trump-school-choice-is-the-civil-rights-statement-of-the-year/.
- ³⁷ The executive order defined "divisive concepts" as: concepts that (1) one race or sex is inherently superior to another race or sex; (2) the United States is fundamentally racist or sexist; (3) an individual, by virtue of his or her race or sex, is inherently racist, sexist, or oppressive, whether consciously or unconsciously; (4) an individual should be discriminated against or receive adverse treatment solely or partly because of his or her race or sex; (5) members of one race or sex cannot and should not attempt to treat others without respect to race or sex; (6) an individual's moral character is necessarily determined by his or her race or sex; (7) an individual, by virtue of his or her race or sex, bears responsibility for actions committed in the past by other members of the same race or sex; (8) any individual should feel discomfort, quilt, anguish, or any other form of psychological distress on account of his or her race or sex; or (9) meritocracy or traits such as a hard work ethic are racist or sexist, or were created by a particular race to oppress another race. The term "divisive concepts" also includes any other form of race or sex stereotyping or any other form of race or sex scapegoating; "Combating Race and Sex Stereotyping."
- ³⁸ "Combating Race and Sex Stereotyping."
- ³⁹ Eesha Pendharkar, "The Evolution of the Anti-CRT Movement: A Timeline," Education Week, December 13, 2022, https://www.edweek.org/leadership/the-evolution-of-the-anti-crt-movement-a-timeline/2022/12.
- ⁴⁰ Laura Meckler, "With his 1776 Commission on patriotism, Trump helped spark a culture war," Washington Post, September 2, 2024, https://www.washingtonpost.com/politics/2024/09/02/trump-1776-commission-education/.
- ⁴¹ "Executive Order on Establishing the President's Advisory 1776 Commission;" The President's Advisory 1776 Commission, "The 1776 Report."
- ⁴² Niedzwiadek, "Trump Goes after Black Lives Matter, 'Toxic Propaganda' in Schools;" Donald J. Trump, "Remarks by President Trump at the White House Conference on American History," The White House, September 17, 2020, https://trumpwhitehouse.archives.gov/briefings-statements/remarks-president-trump-white-house-conference-american-history/.

- ⁴³ Betsy DeVos, "Education Secretary Betsy DeVos: Stop Indoctrinating Students with Insidious Anti-American Lies," Fox News, December 29, 2020, https://www.foxnews.com/opinion/1619-project-1776-commission-slavery-betsy-devos.
- ⁴⁴ "AHA Statement Condemning Report of Advisory 1776 Commission," American Historical Society, January 20, 2021, https://www.historians.org/news/aha-statement-condemning-report-of-advisory-1776-commission/.
- ⁴⁵ The President's Advisory 1776 Commission, "The 1776 Report."
- ⁴⁶ Daniel Payne, "Trump Ally Hillsdale College Pitches 1619 Project Counterweight," Politico, July 21, 2021, https://www.politico.com/news/2021/07/21/trump-ally-1619-project-500464; Adam Hochschild, "History Bright and Dark," The New York Review, May 25, 2023, https://www.nybooks.com/articles/2023/05/25/history-bright-and-dark-hillsdale-1776-curriculum-1619-project/.
- ⁴⁷ Christian Peck-Dimit, "Endowment Tops \$900 Million, with \$600,000 per Student," Hillsdale Collegian, September 2, 2021, https://hillsdalecollegian.com/2021/09/endowment-tops-900-million-with-600000-per-student/.
- ⁴⁸ Karen Francisco and Carol Burris, "A Sharp Turn Right: A New Breed of Charter Schools Delivers the Conservative Agenda," Network for Public Education, July 2023, https://networkforpubliceducation.org/wp-content/uploads/2023/06/Sharp-Turn-Right-FINAL-6.6.23.pdf.
- ⁴⁹ Francisco and Burris, "A Sharp Turn Right: A New Breed of Charter Schools Delivers the Conservative Agenda."
- ⁵⁰ "PEN America Index of Educational Gag Orders."
- 51 "PEN America Index of Educational Gag Orders."
- ⁵² Sarah Schwartz, "Map: Where Critical Race Theory is Under Attack," EducationWeek, June 11, 2021, https://www.edweek.org/policy-politics/map-where-critical-race-theory-is-under-attack/2021/06.
- ⁵³ Alicia Hawkins, "Lawmakers Introduced 563 Measures against Critical Race Theory in 2021 and 2022," UCLA, April 6, 2023, https://newsroom.ucla.edu/releases/lawmakers-introduced-measures-against-critical-race-theory.
- ⁵⁴ Hawkins, "Lawmakers Introduced 563 Measures against Critical Race Theory in 2021 and 2022."

- ⁵⁵ Nadra Nittle, "Parental Rights Bills Have Been Introduced in Most States. Teachers Are Pushing Back," The 74, April 2, 2022, https://www.the74million.org/article/parental-rights-bills-have-been-introduced-in-most-states-teachers-are-pushing-back/.
- ⁵⁶ "Forced Outing of Transgender Youth in Schools, Movement Advancement Project, accessed January 29, 2025, https://www.mapresearch.org/equality-maps/youth/forced_outing; "Education Matters," H.B. 1608, Indiana General Assembly (2023), https://legiscan.com/IN/text/HB1608/id/2790220; "Parents' Bill of Rights," S.B. 49, General Assembly of North Carolina (2023), https://www.ncleg.gov/Sessions/2023/Bills/Senate/PDF/S49v4.pdf; S.F. 496, Iowa General Assembly (2023), https://www.legis.iowa.gov/docs/publications/LGE/90/SF496.pdf.
- ⁵⁷ "Virginia Governor Glenn Youngkin's Anti-Critical Race Theory Tip Line," American Oversight, September 26, 2023, https://www.americanoversight.org/investigation/virginiagovernor-glenn-youngkins-anti-critical-race-theory-tip-line.
- ⁵⁸ Laura Vozzella and Nate Jones, "Youngkin's Education Tip Line Gripes: 'Beowulf', Masks and 'Grooming," Washington Post, November 3, 2022, https://www.washingtonpost.com/dc-md-va/2022/11/03/youngkin-education-tip-line-emails/; Scott Simon and Ben Paviour, "A 'tip line' championed by Virginia Gov. Youngkin last year has been quietly shut down," NPR, November 5, 2022, https://www.npr.org/2022/11/05/1134514204/a-tip-line-championed-by-virginia-gov-youngkin-last-year-has-been-quietly-shut-d.
- ⁵⁹ "In the Documents: Virginia Department of Education Emails about Anti-Critical Race Theory Executive Order," American Oversight, October 3, 2022, https://www.americanoversight.org/in-the-documents-virginia-department-of-education-emails-about-anti-critical-race-theory-executive-order.
- ⁶⁰ "These 4 Florida Bills Censor Classroom Subjects and Ideas," PEN America, March 17, 2022, https://pen.org/these-4-florida-bills-censor-classroom-subjects-and-ideas/.
- ⁶¹ "K-12 Education," C.S./H.B. 1467, Florida Senate (2022), https://www.flsenate.gov/Session/Bill/2022/1467.
- ⁶² "Parental Rights in Education," C.S./H.B. 1557, Florida Senate (2022), https://www.flsenate.gov/Session/Bill/2022/1557.
- 63 "Individual Freedom," C.S./H.B. 7, Florida Senate (2022), https://www.flsenate.gov/Session/Bill/2022/7/?Tab=BillText; Professional Staff of the Committee on Rules, "The Florida Senate Bill Analysis And Fiscal Impact Statement," Florida Senate, February 28, 2022, https://www.flsenate.gov/Session/Bill/2022/7/Analyses/2022h00007.rc.PDF.

- ⁶⁴ Steve Contorro, "Florida Bans Teaching of Gender Identity and Sexual Orientation through 12th Grade," CNN, April 19, 2023, https://www.cnn.com/2023/04/19/politics/florida-bans-teaching-gender-identity-sexual-orientation/index.html.
- ⁶⁵ "Civics Education Course Standards Review Required by House BIll 807," Florida Department of Education, December 31, 2020, https://www.fldoe.org/core/fileparse.php/7749/urlt/CivicsEducationStandards.pdf.
- 66 "Hillsdale College Asked to Advise on Standards for Florida Public School Students," Hillsdale College, August 25, 2020, https://www.hillsdale.edu/news-and-media/press-releases/hillsdale-college-asked-to-advise-on-standards-for-florida-public-school/.
- ⁶⁷ Anna Ceballos and Sommer Brugal, "Teachers Alarmed by State's Infusing Religion, Downplaying Race in Civics Training," Miami Herald, June 30, 2022, https://www.miamiherald.com/news/local/education/article262941378.html.
- ⁶⁸ Ryan Wyatt Turbeville, "Gov. DeSantis to Pave Way for More Public-to-Charter School Conversions in Florida," WCJB, April 15, 2024, https://www.wcjb.com/2024/04/15/gov-desantis-pave-way-more-charter-to-public-school-conversions-florida/; Malcolm Harvey and Claire Alfree, "DeSantis Signs Bill Imposing Book Challenge Limits, Instituting 'Purple Star School Districts," First Coast News, April 16, 2024, https://www.firstcoastnews.com/article/news/education/desantis-signs-bill-imposing-book-challenge-limits-instituting-purple-star-school-districts-and-etc/77-a1960aed-f05b-48cf-b150-c01f899cde23.
- ⁶⁹ "Hillsdale Classical Schools Across the Nation," Hillsdale College, accessed January 29, 2025, https://k12.hillsdale.edu/Schools/Affiliate-Classical-Schools/.
- 70 "2022 State of the State Address," Office of the Governor, January 31, 2022, https://www.tn.gov/governor/sots/2022-state-of-the-state-address.html; Valerie Strauss, "Teachers Go to the 'Dumbest Colleges' Who Said It and Why It Matters," Washington Post, July 9, 2022, https://www.washingtonpost.com/education/2022/07/09/controversy-teachers-dumbest-colleges/; "Hillsdale Charter School Appeals Will Test New Tennessee Panel," Chalkbeat, August 10, 2022, https://www.chalkbeat.org/tennessee/2022/8/10/23298438/hillsdale-charter-schools-appeals-tennessee-commission-governor-lee/.
- 71 "PEN America Index of Educational Gag Orders," S.B. 623/H.B. 580, Tennessee General Assembly, (2021), https://wapp.capitol.tn.gov/apps/Billinfo/default.aspx?BillNumber=HB0580&ga=112#:~:text=(SB%200623)%20by%20*Bell&text=Education%20%2D%20As%20enacted%2C%20deletes%20several,Title%204%20and%20Title%2049.

- ⁷² Katie LaGrone, "Classical Education Charter Schools on the Rise in Florida with Help from Small, Conservative Michigan College," WFTS, August 11, 2022, https://www.abcactionnews.com/news/state/classical-education-charter-schools-on-the-rise-in-florida-with-help-from-small-conservative-michigan-college; "Hillsdale Classical Schools Across the Nation."
- ⁷³ Damon Mitchell, "The Fallout Over Hillsdale College, Charter Schools and Tennessee School Districts, Explained," Nashville Public Radio, July 24, 2022, https://wpln.org/post/the-fallout-over-hillsdale-college-charter-schools-and-tennessee-school-districts-explained/.
- ⁷⁴ Stephanie Saul, "A College Fights 'Leftist Academics' by Expanding Into Charter Schools," New York Times, April 10, 2022, https://www.nytimes.com/2022/04/10/us/hillsdale-college-charter-schools.html.
- ⁷⁵ "Executive Order to Prevent Indoctrination and Critical Race Theory In Schools," State of Arkansas Executive Department, January 10, 2023, https://governor.arkansas.gov/wp-content/uploads/EO-23-05-Prohibit-Indoctrination.pdf.
- ⁷⁶ "What You Need to Know about the Arkansas LEARNS Act," Arkansas Democrat Gazette, March 10, 2023, https://www.arkansasonline.com/news/2023/mar/10/what-you-need-to-know-about-arkansas-learns/.
- 77 Dianne Gallagher, "North Carolina Legislature Overrides Governor's Vetoes to Enact 3 Bills Targeting Transgender Youth," CNN, August 16, 2023, https://www.cnn.com/2023/08/16/politics/north-carolina-gop-governor-veto-override-transgender-bills/index.html; Greg Childress, "NC Republicans Override Vetoes of K-12 Education Bills," NC Newsline, August 17, 2023, https://ncnewsline.com/2023/08/17/republicans-override-several-key-k-12-education-bills/.
- 78 "Parents' Bill of Rights."
- ⁷⁹ Rebecca Noel, "What Internal CMS Emails Reveal About NC Parents Bill of Rights Implementation," Charlotte Observer, April 9, 2024, https://www.charlotteobserver.com/news/local/education/article287351665.html.
- ⁸⁰ "Christopher F. Rufo," Manhattan Institute, accessed January 29, 2025, https://manhattan.institute/person/christopher-f-rufo/.
- 81 "DEI Programs Discriminate Against White and Asian Men: Chris Rufo," FOX News, April 2, 2024, https://www.foxnews.com/video/6350167739112; Christopher Rufo, "Critical Race Theory Briefing Book," Christopher F. Rufo, February 14, 2023, https://christopherrufo.com/p/crt-briefing-book.

- 82 "Critical Race Theory Has Infiltrated the Federal Government | Christopher Rufo on Fox News," Youtube, uploaded by Heritage Foundation, September 2, 2020, https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=rBXRdWflV7M; Meckler and Dawsey, "Republicans, Spurred by an Unlikely Figure, See Political Promise in Targeting Critical Race Theory"; Trip Gabriel, "Christopher Rufo Fuels the Right's Cultural Fires in Florida," New York Times, April 24, 2022, https://www.nytimes.com/2022/04/24/us/politics/christopher-rufo-crt-lgbtq-florida.html; Fuchs, Hailey, "Trump Attack on Diversity Training Has a Quick and Chilling Effect," New York Times, October 13, 2020.
- ⁸³ Russell Vought, "M-20-34 Training in the Federal Government," Office of Management and Budget, September 4, 2020, https://bidenwhitehouse.archives.gov/wp-content/uploads/2020/09/M-20-34.pdf.
- 84 Meckler and Dawsey, "Republicans, Spurred by an Unlikely Figure, See Political Promise in Targeting Critical Race Theory"; "Combating Race and Sex Stereotyping."
- ⁸⁵ Gabriel, "Christopher Rufo Fuels the Right's Cultural Fires in Florida."
- ⁸⁶ Christopher Rufo, "Yes, I Envisioned a Strategy—Turn the Brand 'Critical Race Theory' Toxic—and, despite Having Virtually No Resources Compared to My Opponents, Willed It into Being through Writing and Persuasion. Follow My Playbook to Save America; Follow Charlie's to Lose Sanctimoniously." Tweet, X (formerly Twitter), May 24, 2021, https://x.com/realchrisrufo/status/1396961964190961665.
- ⁸⁷ Christopher Rufo, "Bring on the Counterrevolution," City Journal, August 7, 2023, https://www.city-journal.org/article/bring-on-the-counterrevolution/.
- ⁸⁸ Christopher Rufo, "The Anti-Normative Society," Christopher F. Rufo, June 9, 2024, https://christopherrufo.com/p/the-anti-normative-society.
- 89 Rufo, "The Anti-Normative Society."
- Melissa Block, "Accusations of 'grooming' Are the Latest Political Attack with Homophobic Origins," NPR, May 11, 2022, https://www.npr.org/2022/05/11/1096623939/accusations-grooming-political-attack-homophobic-origins; Matt Lavietes, "'Groomer,' 'pro-Pedophile': Old Tropes Find New Life in Anti-LGBTQ Movement," NBC News, April 12, 2022, https://www.nbcnews.com/nbc-out/out-politics-and-policy/groomer-pedophile-old-tropes-find-new-life-anti-lgbtq-movement-rcna23931.

- ⁹¹ Zac Anderson, "Gov. Ron DeSantis Wants Conservative Overhaul at Sarasota's New College of Florida," Herald Tribune, January 6, 2023, https://www.heraldtribune.com/story/news/politics/2023/01/06/gov-ron-desantis-wants-conservative-overhaul-at-new-college-of-florida/69784941007/.
- ⁹² Danielle Brown, "DeSantis Signs 'Don't Say Gay'; Feds Monitoring for 'Civil Rights Violations," Florida Phoenix, March 28, 2022, https://floridaphoenix.com/2022/03/28/desantis-signs-dont-say-gay-feds-monitoring-for-civil-rights-violations/.
- ⁹³ Tori Otten, "Christopher Rufo's Shockingly Open Appeal: I'll Fund Right-Wing 'Culture War' Projects," The New Republic, November 2, 2023, https://newrepublic.com/post/176621/christopher-rufo-fund-right-wing-culture-war-projects.
- ⁹⁴ Christopher Rufo, "Announcing the Logos Fellowship," Christopher F. Rufo, December 11, 2023, https://christopherrufo.com/p/announcing-the-logos-fellowship?r=333ea&utm_medium=email.
- ⁹⁵ Christopher Rufo, "Planning for the Next White House," Christopher F. Rufo, March 13, 2023, https://christopherrufo.com/p/planning-for-the-next-white-house.
- ⁹⁶ "A Lesson on Critical Race Theory," American Bar Association, January 11, 2021, https://www.americanbar.org/groups/crsj/publications/human_rights_magazine_home/civil-rights-reimagining-policing/a-lesson-on-critical-race-theory.
- ⁹⁷ Isabella Zou, "What is critical race theory? Explaining the discipline that Texas' governor wants to 'abolish'," Texas Tribune, June 22, 2021, https://www.texastribune.org/2021/06/22/texas-critical-race-theory-explained/; Kimberlé Williams Crenshaw, "Twenty Years of Critical Race Theory: Looking Back To Move Forward," Connecticut Law Review, July 2011, <a href="https://webshare.law.ucla.edu/Faculty/bibs/crenshaw/Crenshaw-TwentyYearsofCRT.pdf?_gl=1*1e477ax*_up*MQ.* ga*MzUwMTE3NzExLjE3MjA3MTcyNTA.* ga
- 98 Ruben J. Garcia, "Critical Race Theory and Proposition 187: The Racial Politics of Immigration Law," Chicano-Latino Law Review, 1995, https://heinonline. org/HOL/LandingPage?handle=hein.journals/ chiclat17&div=11&id=&page=: David Simson, "Exclusion. Punishment, Racism, and Our Schools: A Critical Race Theory Perspective on School Discipline," UCLA Law Review, 2014, https://heinonline.org/HOL/LandingPage?handle=hein. journals/uclalr61&div=12; Comfort Tosin Adebayo et al., "African American Women's Maternal Healthcare Experiences: A Critical Race Theory Perspective," Health Communications, 2024, https://www.taylorfrancis.com/chapters/ edit/10.4324/9781032661285-8/african-american-womenmaternal-healthcare-experiences-critical-race-theoryperspective-comfort-tosin-adebayo-erin-sahlstein-parcelllucy-mkandawire-valhmu-oluwatoyin-olukotun; Charles B. Adams, et al., "Militarization and Stop and Frisk: Using Critical Race Theory to Analyze Training of Police Officers," in Why the Police Should Be Trained by Black People, 2022, https://www. taylorfrancis.com/chapters/edit/10.4324/9781003152842-25/militarization-stop-frisk-charles-adams-matasha-harrisavanna-lynch: "Critical Race Theory Frequently Asked Questions," Legal Defense Fund, accessed January 29, 2025, https://www.naacpldf.org/critical-race-theory-fag/; Crenshaw, "Twenty Years of Critical Race Theory: Looking Back To Move Forward."
- ⁹⁹ "Critical Race Theory Frequently Asked Questions."
- 100 Open Syllabus, an education research nonprofit, searched U.S. university course syllabi for key terms related to conservative education fears, including CRT. They found only 0.1 percent of the syllabi they searched contained the terms "Marxism," "transgender," and "critical race theory." Less than 5 percent of classes reference "gender" and 3 percent reference "race"; Joe Karganis, "The Conservative University," Open Syllabus, July 11, 2023, https://blog.opensyllabus.org/the-conservative-university; Phil McCausland, Teaching critical race theory isn't happening in classrooms, teachers say in survey," NBC News, July 1, 2021, https://www.nbcnews.com/news/us-news/teaching-critical-race-theory-isn-t-happening-classrooms-teachers-say-n1272945.
- ¹⁰¹ Jeremy Schwartz, "A GOP Texas School Board Member Campaigned against Schools Indoctrinating Kids. Then She Read the Curriculum," Texas Tribune, May 15, 2024, https://www.texastribune.org/2024/05/15/texas-granbury-isd-school-board-courtney-gore/.
- ¹⁰² Jeremy Schwartz, "Former Far-Right Hard-Liner Says Billionaires Are Targeting Texas Public Education," ProPublica, May 15, 2024, https://www.propublica.org/article/texas-tim-dunn-wilks-brothers-vouchers-courtney-gore.

- ¹⁰³ Local 8027, AFT-NH v. Edelblut, 21-cv-01077-PB (D.N.H. 2024), https://www.aclu-nh.org/sites/default/files/courtorder-bannedconcepts.pdf.
- ¹⁰⁴ PEN America, email to American Oversight, September 3, 2024.
- ¹⁰⁵ "In the Documents: Virginia Department of Education Emails About Anti-Critical Race Theory Executive Order," American Oversight, October 3, 2022, https://www.americanoversight.org/in-the-documents-virginia-department-of-education-emails-about-anti-critical-race-theory-executive-order.
- ¹⁰⁶ Ethan DeWitt, "Teachers, Public School Advocates Push for Repeal of 'divisive Concepts' Law," New Hampshire Bulletin, January 13, 2023, newhampshirebulletin.com/2023/01/13/teachers-public-school-advocates-push-for-repeal-of-divisive-concepts-law/.
- ¹⁰⁷ Laura Meckler and Hannah Natanson, "New Critical Race Theory Laws Have Teachers Scared, Confused and Self-Censoring," Washington Post, February 14, 2022, https://www.washingtonpost.com/education/2022/02/14/critical-race-theory-teachers-fear-laws.
- ¹⁰⁸ Meckler and Natanson, "New Critical Race Theory Laws Have Teachers Scared, Confused and Self-Censoring."
- ¹⁰⁹ Jacob Holmes, "Federal Judge Strikes Down New Hampshire 'Divisive Concepts' Law," Alabama Political Reporter, June 4, 2024, www.alreporter.com/2024/06/03/federal-judge-strikes-down-new-hampshire-divisive-concepts-law/.
- ¹¹⁰ "Florida Dept. of Education Emails Reveal Confusion for Textbook Companies, New Examples of Lesson Changes;" Dana Goldstein, "Florida Rejects Math Textbooks, Citing 'Prohibited Topics," New York Times, April 18, 2022, https://www.nytimes.com/2022/04/18/us/florida-math-textbooks-critical-race-theory.html.
- ¹¹¹ Sarah Mervosh and Dana Goldstein, "Florida Rejects Dozens of Social Studies Textbooks, and Forces Changes in Others," New York Times, May 9, 2023, www.nytimes.com/2023/05/09/us/desantis-florida-social-studies-textbooks.html.
- ¹¹² "Florida Dept. of Education Emails Reveal Confusion for Textbook Companies, New Examples of Lesson Changes."
- ¹¹³ "Florida Dept. of Education Emails Reveal Confusion for Textbook Companies, New Examples of Lesson Changes."

- ¹¹⁴ "Florida Dept. of Education Emails Reveal Confusion for Textbook Companies, New Examples of Lesson Changes."
- ¹¹⁵ Young and Friedman, "America's Censored Classrooms."
- ¹¹⁶ Young and Friedman, "America's Censored Classrooms."
- ¹¹⁷ Young and Friedman, "America's Censored Classrooms."
- ¹¹⁸ Ashley Woo et al., "Walking on Eggshells—Teachers' Responses to Classroom Limitations on Race- or Gender-Related Topics," RAND, January 25, 2023, https://www.rand.org/pubs/research_reports/RRA134-16.html.
- ¹¹⁹ Karen Salvdor
- "Divisive Concepts Laws and Music Education," National Association for Music Education, January 30, 2023, https://nafme.org/wp-content/uploads/2023/05/NAfME-Divisive-Concepts-Laws-and-Music-Education-Report-2023, pdf.
- ¹²⁰ Salvador, "Divisive Concepts Laws and Music Education."
- ¹²¹ Laura Beth Kelly et al., "The Chilling Effects of So-Called Critical Race Theory Bans," Rethinking Schools, accessed January 29, 2025, https://rethinkingschools.org/articles/the-chilling-effects-of-so-called-critical-race-theory-bans/.
- ¹²² T. Keung Hui, "Johnston Passes Policy Against Books on Gender Identity in Elementary School Libraries," Raleigh News & Observer, November 10, 2023, https://www.newsobserver.com/news/local/education/article281586098.html.
- ¹²³ T. Keung Hui, "Johnston's Rules on School Library Books Could Go Beyond What New State Law Requires," Raleigh News & Observer, October 12, 2023, https://www.newsobserver.com/news/local/education/article280370129. html.
- ¹²⁴ Ileana Najarro, "Arkansas Says AP African American Studies No Longer Counts for High School Credit," EducationWeek, August 14, 2023, https://www.edweek.org/teaching-learning/arkansas-says-ap-african-american-studies-no-longer-counts-for-high-school-credit/2023/08.
- ¹²⁵ Emily Bloch, "Florida Education Commissioner Says He Made Sure Amy Donofrio Was Fired; Now Her Legal Team's Responding," Florida Times-Union, May 17, 2021, https://www.jacksonville.com/story/news/education/2021/05/17/florida-education-commissioner-richard-corcoran-says-fired-duval-county-teacher-supporting-blm/5134544001/.

- Rebecca Gaunt, "Divisive Concepts' Law at Work: LGBTQ Books Pulled from Cobb Schools, Shakespeare Flagged for Review," Cobb County Courier, July 9, 2024, https://cobbcountycourier.com/2024/07/divisive-concepts-law-at-work-lgbtq-books-pulled-from-cobb-schools-shakespeare-flagged-for-review/#google_vignette; "The Chilling Effect of Georgia's 'Divisive Concepts' Law," American Oversight, July 18, 2024, https://www.americanoversight.org/the-chilling-effect-of-georgias-divisive-concepts-law.
- ¹²⁷ Marlene Sokol et al."A closer look at Florida's rejected social studies textbooks,"Tampa Bay Times, May 13, 2023, https://www.tampabay.com/news/education/2023/05/13/florida-social-studies-textbooks-department-education-desantis-black-lives-matter-george-floyd/.
- 128 "Proclamation," Orange County Public Schools, February 2021, https://go.boarddocs.com/fla/orcpsfl/Board.nsf/files/BXNHBX47BA0D/\$file/2021%20Black%20History%20
 Month%20-%20Proclamation%20(01-26-21%20bd%20 mtg)%20SIGNED.pdf; Proclamation," Orange County Public Schools, February 2022, https://go.boarddocs.com/fla/orcpsfl/Board.nsf/files/CASH8R474B64/%24file/2022%20Black%20 History%20Month%20-%20Proclamation%20(01-25-22%20 bd%20mtg).pdf; Proclamation," Orange County Public Schools, February 2023, https://go.boarddocs.com/fla/orcpsfl/Board.nsf/files/CNDU5V7A532F/\$file/Black%20History%20 Month%20-%20Proclamation%20(1-24-23%20bd%20 mtg)%20SIGNED.pdf.
- 129 Juliana Kim, "Florida Says AP Class Teaches Critical Race Theory. Here's What's Really in the Course," NPR, January 22, 2023, www.npr.org/2023/01/22/1150259944/florida-rejects-ap-class-african-american-studies; Anthony Izaguirre and Terry Spencer, "Florida's Rejection of Black History Course Stirs Debate," Associated Press, January 24, 2023, apnews.com/article/ron-desantis-florida-education-6603c0aa4de0 098423eb7b6c04846d0c, Fabiola Cineas, "The Controversy Over AP African American Studies, Explained," Vox, February 9, 2023, https://www.vox.com/policy-and-politics/23583240/ap-african-american-studies-college-board-florida-ron-desantis.
- 130 Erin Doherty and Shawna Chen, "Here Are Some Key Cuts from the AP African American Studies Curriculum," Axios, February 3, 2023, www.axios.com/2023/02/03/college-board-ap-african-american-studies; Anemona Hartocollis and Eliza Fawcett, "The College Board Strips down Its A.P. Curriculum for African American Studies," New York Times, February 1, 2023, www.nytimes.com/2023/02/01/us/college-board-advanced-placement-african-american-studies.html; Cineas, "The Controversy Over AP African American Studies, Explained."

- ¹³¹ "Does Not Offer Any Opposing Viewpoints': Inside Florida's Reviews of AP African American Studies Course," American Oversight, August 30, 2023, www.americanoversight.org/does-not-offer-any-opposing-viewpoints-inside-floridas-reviews-of-ap-african-american-studies-course.
- ¹³² Karina Elwood, "Va. Proposed Changes to African American History Course, Documents Show," Washington Post, June 23, 2024, https://www.washingtonpost.com/education/2024/06/23/virginia-african-american-history-course-proposed-revisions/; "Inside the Virginia Education Department's Review of African American History Course."
- ¹³³ Martin Luther King, Jr., "Letter from Birmingham Jail," African Studies Center University of Pennsylvania, accessed January 17, 2025, https://www.africa.upenn.edu/Articles_Gen/Letter_Birmingham.html.
- ¹³⁴ Laura Testino, "Authors of a George Floyd Biography Couldn't Tell Students the Whole Story," Chalkbeat, November 7, 2023, https://www.chalkbeat.org/tennessee/2023/11/7/23949605/george-floyd-book-authors-face-restrictions-memphis/.
- 135 Tom Ferguson, "Activist Teacher... Race-Based Assignments': New Details into HB 1775 Investigations," KOKH, July 5, 2024, <a href="https://okcfox.com/news/local/activist-teacher-race-based-assignments-new-details-into-hb-1775-investigations-house-bill-critical-race-theory-law-ryan-walters-woke-dear-martin-mahogany-l-browne-nic-stone-luther-norman-public-schools-oklahoma-michael-beason-mustang-tulsa-racism-lib."
- ¹³⁶ "English Language Learners: Culture, Equity and Language," YouTube, uploaded by NEAPrioritySchools, January 20, 2012, https://www.voutube.com/watch?v=5HU80AxmP-U.
- ¹³⁷ Rebecca Noel, "What Internal CMS Emails Reveal About NC Parents Bill of Rights Implementation," The Charlotte Observer, April 9, 2024, https://www.charlotteobserver.com/news/local/education/article287351665.html.
- ¹³⁸ NC-MECKLENBURG-23-1188-A: "<u>Charlotte-Mecklenburg Schools</u>, N.C., Records Related to Content Determined Prohibited by SB 49," 3, received by American Oversight January 30, 2024.
- ¹³⁹ NC-MECKLENBURG-23-1188-A: "<u>Charlotte-Mecklenburg</u> Schools, N.C., Records Related to Content Determined Prohibited by SB 49," 3.
- ¹⁴⁰ Josh Snyder, "State Looks at Indoctrination Violations," Arkansas Democrat Gazette, September 3, 2023, https://www.arkansasonline.com/news/2023/sep/03/state-looks-at-indoctrination-violations/.

- ¹⁴¹ "An Act to Protect Opportunities for Women and Girls in Athletics," H.B. 574, General Assembly of North Carolina (2023), https://www.ncleg.gov/Sessions/2023/Bills/House/PDF/H574v5.pdf.
- ¹⁴² "Hostile Environment for LGBTQ Students in North Carolina's Public Schools," Campaign for Southern Equality, January 20, 2024, https://southern-equality.org/wp-content/uploads/2024/01/Southern-Equality-Title-IX-Allegation-vs-NC-SBE-and-NC-DPI.pdf.
- 143 "National Women's Law Center Files Civil Rights
 Complaints Against Georgia and Florida School Districts for
 Censoring Inclusive Books," National Women's Law Center, May
 13, 2024, https://nwlc.org/press-release/national-womens-law-center-files-civil-rights-complaints-against-georgia-and-florida-school-districts-for-censoring-inclusive-books.
 144 Education Justice Alliance, email to American Oversight, August 30, 2024.
- ¹⁴⁵ Jay Greene, James Paul, and Lindsey Burke, "Rethinking Old Tactics to Advance School Choice," Education Next, September 23, 2021, https://www.educationnext.org/rethinking-old-tactics-to-advance-school-choice/.
- ¹⁴⁶ Greene, Paul, and Burke, "Rethinking Old Tactics to Advance School Choice."
- ¹⁴⁷ Jay Greene and Jason Bedrick, "What's Behind the Recent Surge in School-Choice Victories," Heritage Foundation, February 7, 2023, https://www.heritage.org/education/commentary/whats-behind-the-recent-surge-school-choice-victories.
- ¹⁴⁸ Madeline Peltz, "In Now-Delayed Book, Heritage President Details MAGA Plans to Remake Education: 'America's Teachers Have Gone Insane," Media Matters for America, August 8, 2024, https://www.mediamatters.org/kevin-roberts/now-delayed-book-heritage-president-details-maga-plans-remake-education-americas.
- ¹⁴⁹ Xavier Richardson, "Watch: State Supt. Ryan Walters Sits Down for Interview at 2024 Republican National Convention," KFOR, July 16, 2024, https://kfor.com/news/local/watch-state-supt-ryan-walters-sits-down-for-interview-at-2024-republican-national-convention/.
- ¹⁵⁰ Casey Tolan, Rene Marsh, and Nelli Black, "Arizona Is Sending Taxpayer Money to Religious Schools and Billionaires See It as a Model for the US," CNN, June 19, 2024, https://www.cnn.com/2024/06/19/politics/arizona-private-school-vouchers-invs/index.html.

- ¹⁵¹ Jamie Klinenberg, Jon Valant, and Nicolas Zerbino, "Arizona's 'universal' Education Savings Account Program Has Become a Handout to the Wealthy," Brookings Institution, May 7, 2024, https://www.brookings.edu/articles/arizonas-universal-education-savings-account-program-has-become-a-handout-to-the-wealthy/.
- ¹⁵² Maria Polletta, "Contentious 'Project 2025' Plan Uses Arizona as Education Model," Arizona Center for Investigative Reporting, August 5, 2024, http://azcir.org/news/2024/08/05/project-2025-arizona-education-model.
- ¹⁵³ During former President Donald Trump's first term in office, his proposed fiscal year 2021 budget included a similar direct block grant proposal with no mention of Title I funding for low-income schools. Weadé James and Will Ragland, "Project 2025's Elimination of Title I Funding Would Hurt Students and Decimate Teaching Positions in Local Schools," Center for American Progress, July 25, 2024, https://www.americanprogress.org/article/project-2025s-elimination-of-title-i-funding-would-hurt-students-and-decimate-teaching-positions-in-local-schools/; Libby Stanford, "Project 2025 and GOP Aim for Universal School Choice. What Would That Look Like?" EducationWeek, August 19, 2024, https://www.edweek.org/policy-politics/project-2025-and-gop-aim-for-universal-school-choice-what-would-that-look-like/2024/08.
- Laura Meckler and Michelle Boorstein, "Billions in Taxpayer Dollars Now Go to Religious Schools via Vouchers," Washington Post, June 3, 2024, https://www.washingtonpost.com/nation/2024/06/03/tax-dollars-religious-schools/.
 In its Second Year, Florida Education Innovator, Optima Academy Online, named Yass Prize 2023 Quarterfinalist," Optima Academy Online, accessed January 29, 2025, https://www.optimaacademy.online/vass-quarterfinalist/.
- 156 Kiera Butler, "Betsy DeVos Was a Disaster. I Think Erika Donalds Could Be Worse." Mother Jones, August 10, 2023, https://www.motherjones.com/politics/2023/08/erika-donalds-byron-charter-hillsdale-optimaed-betsy-devos-education-secretary-trump/; Rachel Fradette, "Hillsdale College Will Officially Sever Ties with Mason Classical Academy in August," Naples Daily News, July 2, 2019, https://www.naplesnews.com/story/news/education/2019/07/02/hillsdale-college-will-sever-ties-with-mason-classical-academy/1594315001/.
- ¹⁵⁷ Erin Anderson, "Advocating for Education Freedom," Optima Ed, accessed January 29, 2025, https://optimaed.com/2022/08/05/advocating-for-education-freedom/.

- ¹⁵⁸ The Heritage Foundation's Education Freedom Report Card scores states on, among other factors, the availability of vouchers for parents to spend public money on private schools like Optima Academy Online; "Education Freedom Report Card," Heritage Foundation, accessed January 29, 2025, https://www.heritage.org/educationreportcard/.
- ¹⁵⁹ "Erika Donalds Joins Heritage as Visiting Fellow on Education Freedom," Heritage Foundation, November 14, 2023, https://www.heritage.org/press/erika-donalds-joins-heritage-visiting-fellow-education-freedom.
- ¹⁶⁰ Shapiro, "How to Destroy America in Three Easy Steps;" "Tucker: The Cultural Revolution Has Come to America."
- ¹⁶¹ Perez and Wilkes, "Trump issues orders on K-12 'indoctrination', school choice and campus protests."